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QLD

NSW

Welcome to  
Peter Warren Automotive’s  
inaugural annual report

This year has been a testament to the resilience of our earnings and the 
diversity of our locations and the brands we represent. 
Our business is well located in some of Australia’s highest population 
growth regions, South East Queensland, Northern New South Wales,  
and the South East Corridor of Greater Sydney, enabling us to centralise 
costs and importantly trade through product cycles.
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2021  
Financial  
Highlights2021

$1,621m
Total Proforma Revenue  
6% ahead of Prospectus forecast 

ASX listing
In April 2021

$75.7m
Proforma PBT 68% ahead  
of Prospectus forecast

$54.8m
Statutory PBT up 144%
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“Our business has succeeded because 
it puts our customers first. This approach 
is evident in our focus on exceptional 
customer service and supporting  
them across the entirety of their  
vehicles’ life cycle.”
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Dear Shareholders,

On behalf of the Directors of 
Peter Warren Automotive Holdings 
Limited, I am pleased to present  
the inaugural Annual Report for  
the 2021 financial year (FY21). 
Amidst a challenging year for many due to the continued 
impacts of the COVID-19 pandemic, I am delighted that  
Peter Warren, a trusted family business established in 1958, 
achieved an important milestone of listing on the Australian 
Securities Exchange (ASX). 

Putting our customers first
Peter Warren is a leading automotive dealership and service 
group, and today operates from its 18 locations across  
Greater Sydney, northern new South Wales, and South East 
Queensland. The Company offers 28 vehicle brands and 
operates 74 franchises, providing a diversified range of  
new and used cars over the Volume, Prestige and luxury 
segments of the automotive market and includes Trucks  
and Aftermarket products in its portfolio. 

ultimately, our business has succeeded because it puts our 
customers first. This approach is evident in our focus on 
exceptional customer service and supporting them across  
the entirety of their vehicle ownership life cycle from the 
purchase of a new vehicle, finance and insurance, aftermarket, 
trade in, servicing and supplying of parts and accessories. 
Together, this full-service offering creates a ‘one-stop’ holistic 
offering and provides a strong value proposition for customers.

In Pursuit of Growth
Peter Warren has a demonstrated history of growth via both 
greenfield and brownfield developments. The Australian 
automotive industry is highly fragmented and few dealers  
have the capacity to act as a consolidator. Moving forward,  
the Company’s growth strategy will continue to focus on 
investment in new dealerships and acquisitions of strategic 
property sites. Successful consolidation requires not only 
capital, but strong relationships with OEMs in order to  
identify and execute upon opportunities and an experienced 
management team capable of integrating businesses and 
extracting efficiencies.

The Board and the management team are committed to 
advancing the Peter Warren brand nationally and ensuring 
consistent and high-quality customer service.

Our people 
Peter Warrens success has been driven by our 1,600 team 
members. Our deep roots as a family-owned and operated 
business have provided a strong cultural foundation with  
those founder families remaining as significant shareholders.  
I am particularly pleased that the Warren Family, with approximately 
35% interest, has maintained its stake in the company.

I am fortunate to be joined on the newly formed Board by  
Paul Warren as an Executive Director, Catherine West and 
niran Peiris. The Board members have complementary set of 
skills and competencies, all of which will help the Company 
realise its potential. 

Alongside the Board, Peter Warren is led by an experienced 
management team with significant years of active involvement 
in the automotive industry.

Further details regarding the Directors and the management 
team can be found later in this document.

The transition of Mark Weaver from Chief Operating Officer  
to Chief Executive Officer has been completed seamlessly  
and indeed Mark’s knowledge of the automotive industry  
and leadership of the Peter Warren business has enabled  
the company to have a very successful year.

I’d like to take this opportunity to thank my fellow Directors  
for the dedication and commitment to the company in recent 
months, particularly around the period leading up to the IPO.  
I know how committed you are to the company and its success 
for its customers, colleagues, and shareholders. 

Finally, I want to thank the Peter Warren team for their 
extraordinary hard work and perseverance in these uncertain 
times. This year you have contributed to creating a successful 
company for our shareholders, and also made our customer’s 
lives better. Thank you.

Yours sincerely,

John Ingram 
Chair

Peter Warren Automotive Holdings

Chair’s  
Letter
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Chief Executive’s  
Review

Fellow Shareholders,

I am very proud of our achievements 
this year, including our listing on the 
ASX and successfully delivering a 
financial result ahead of Prospectus 
forecast on all key financial metrics. 
This result could not have been 
delivered without the support of  
our Board and the combined efforts 
of our management team and our 
valued team members. 
The focus of our management and the ability of our people  
to adapt and confront the challenges presented by the 
pandemic and associated lockdowns has been exceptional.

I’m delighted to present my first review as Chief Executive 
Officer of Peter Warren Automotive Holdings limited and  
I am very proud of our company as it has continued to go  
from strength to strength amidst, what at times, has been  
an extremely uncertain and volatile operating environment.

FY21 performance
In a year that presented challenging macro-economic 
conditions, Peter Warren has experienced higher levels of 
demand. Our unit growth in new vehicles sales for the financial 
year was 11.1% and pleasingly above the pre-COVID-19,  
FY19 levels. This performance is in part driven by the  
diversity of our revenue streams with a mix of brands  
across luxury, prestige, and volume segments.

Strong revenue and margin performance combined with 
planned cost reductions and operating efficiencies has 
delivered significant operating leverage. 

Some financial highlights for the FY21 year include:
 • Proforma Revenue of $1,621 million, 6% ahead  

of Prospectus forecast 

 • Proforma Profit before tax of $75.7 million, 68% ahead  
of Prospectus forecast of $45.0 million

 • Revenue and margin performance highlights strong 
execution and operating leverage

 • Footprint growth through four acquisitions and  
greenfield developments

 • Robust financial position, with closing cash  
of $43 million and no corporate debt

Statutory Proforma

Full Year 
($’000s)

FY21 
Actual

FY21 
Prospectus 

Forecast
Var  

%
FY21 

Actual

FY21 
Prospectus 

Forecast
Var  

%

Revenue 1,635 1,527 +7% 1,621 1,527 +6%

EBITDA 102.1 70.4 +45% 108.0 76.0 +42%

Profit before tax 54.8 22.4 +144% 75.7 45.0 +68%

nPAT 37.5 15.4 +143% 52.2 31.4 +66%
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Strategic priorities
Our strategic roadmap which we outlined in the Prospectus 
has 3 key elements:

 • Evolution of our property portfolio  
ownership or long-term leases of key strategic properties;

 • Continued organic growth  
expansion of current operations in the sale of new and used 
vehicles and the provision of complementary services; and

 • Acquisition opportunities  
pursue new acquisition opportunities, with a disciplined 
approach to screening based on factors including strategic 
rationale, location and value.

The group has pursued all three growth limbs since listing  
and pleasingly settled several acquisitions in the last quarter 
from operating cashflows. I welcome the following additions  
to our group:

 • Tweed Mazda  
Tweed Heads, northern new South Wales;  
acquired 1 June 2021

 • Collins Honda  
Rockdale, Greater Sydney; acquired on 16 June 2021

 • Northern Rivers Honda  
lismore, northern nSW; operating from 1 July 2021

 • Patriot Campers  
Arundel Commercial Centre, Gold Coast; becoming  
the first agent appointment in Australia

With the successful completion of the IPO, which included  
the acquisition of the Warwick Farm and Southport properties, 
the company is in a strong financial position, with closing cash 
of $43 million and no corporate debt. Our cash generative 
business model and strong financial position provide the 
financial flexibility to support our growth plans. 

I must acknowledge and thank our OEM partners, for their 
continued partnership and support. Our shared vision is  
to strengthen and further broaden our relationships and to 
continue to expand our geographic reach as ambassadors  
for the brands we represent.

Our people & our customers
In the current year, we have adapted our business, improving 
operating efficiencies, re-aligning our trading hours to better 
suit our market and workforce, accelerated the roll-out of our 
online platforms, implemented contactless click & collect 
services, and re-launched our many websites, vastly improving 
our on-line functionality and digital capability to deal with a 
changing landscape. I am confident we will continue to adapt, 
innovate and remain agile to changing consumer preferences 
and sales models as they emerge. 

Throughout the pandemic, the safety of our customers and  
our team members has been of utmost importance. I would  
like to emphasise how impressed I have been by our people 
this year, and to thank them for their unwavering dedication  
to our business and for ensuring the welfare and wellbeing  
of our teams and customers remains to be upheld at all times. 
Our strong performance is a credit to each of you. 

Despite challenging conditions, a significant focus in the  
year has been on transforming our talent attraction and 
development strategies. I am delighted that we created  
a record number of new apprenticeships and trainee roles  
in this period, demonstrating our support of youthful 
employment and taking strides to resolve a skills shortage  
that is steadily emerging. Peter Warren has expanded its 
diverse talent pool which continues to be a major asset as  
we embark on the next phase of our journey. Our business 
nurtures talent and strongly believes in supporting people  
to develop their careers. This approach will drive how we 
attract, develop, and retain relevant talent as we look ahead. 

While we continue to navigate the uncertainty created by the 
pandemic, I believe Peter Warren is well positioned to emerge 
more agile and even stronger to pursue our strategic priorities.

Yours sincerely,

Mark Weaver 
Chief Executive Officer

Peter Warren Automotive Holdings
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STRONG 
PERFORMANCE 

ACROSS  
ALL PROFORMA 

FINANCIAL  
METRICS

StROnG REVEnuE GROWtH ($M)

FY21

FY20 1376.6

1621.2

PROFORMA GROWtH RAtE

18%

POSItIVE OPERAtInG LEVERAGE

16.0%

18.0%

 

FY21

FY20

GROSS PROFIt MARGIn 18.0%

200 BASIS POINTS

12.4%

11.4%

 

FY21

FY20

IMPROVED OPERAtInG COStS MARGIn

100 BASIS POINTS

PROFORMA EBItDA

118%

StROnG EBItDA + PBt PERFORMAnCE ($M) 

FY21

FY20 49.5

108.0

StROnG FInAnCIAL POSItIOn

OPERAtInG CASHFLOW COnVERSIOn 

82.1%

170.7%

82.1%FY21

FY20

PROFORMA PBt

378%

FY21

FY20 15.9

75.7

$43m
IN CASH 
AT 30 JUNE 2021 

NO CORPORATE DEBT

2021  
Performance  
Highlights2021
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Completion of acquisition  
of key properties at
WARWICK FARM  
AND SOUTHPORT 

Enhanced our
DIGITAL CAPABILITIES  
TO ENGAGE  
WITH SHIFTING  
CONSUMER TRENDS

Growth
ACROSS ALL  
REVENUE  
DEPARTMENTS

365 NEW  
NEW APPRENTICESHIP  
& TRAINEESHIP  
OPPORTUNITIES CREATED

Ongoing focus on 
OPERATING
EFFICIENCIES  
AND COST 
REDUCTIONS

Operational  
Highlights2021

WELCOMED THE FOLLOWING  
ADDITIONS TO OUR GROUP:

TWEED MAZDA – tweed Heads, nSW;  
acquired 1 June 2021

COLLINS HONDA – Rockdale, Greater Sydney; 
acquired on 16 June 2021

NORTHERN RIVERS HONDA – Lismore, nSW; 
operating from 1 July 2021

PATRIOT CAMPERS – Arundel Commercial  
Centre, Gold Coast; becoming the first agent 
appointment in Australia
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Environmental,  
Social and Governance

Environmental and Sustainability
The typical dealership environment faces the potential  
for hazardous vehicle emissions and the management of 
hazardous fluids and products. At Peter Warren, we monitor 
our treatment of these materials carefully, following strict 
waste management protocols and partner with our Original 
Equipment Manufacturers (OEM’s) to adopt sustainable 
practices in the manufacture of the products we sell.

Our Vehicles
Peter Warren are proud ambassadors for 28 OEM brands  
that are measured against global environmental standards. 
The future pathway for the development of vehicles from 
traditional petrol – and diesel-powered vehicles, through to 
hybrid fuel models, and evolving into fully electric vehicles  
is continually evolving. Peter Warren is supporting its OEM 
representations and consumer base with the development  
of facilities aligned to this strategy. Electric vehicles in use, 
produce fewer emissions and with greater emphasis from 
societal and global regulations, consumer appetite for 
sustainable vehicles has been enhanced. Consumers today 
place sustainability and fuel efficiency as major considerations 
in determining their choice of vehicle.

Our Service Centres
We have modern service centres across our network, and  
we recognise that these centres need to be constantly 
assessed to maintain expected environmental standards.  
A dealership service centre handles hazardous materials on  
a daily basis, which include the disposal of waste materials 
such as used oils, used batteries, used tyres, and used 
antifreeze as well as the exchange of refrigerant gasses  
used in vehicle air conditioning units. We ensure our service 
centres are monitored by industry leading and suitably 
qualified personnel that understand the risks and the potential 
environmental impact that inappropriate waste management 
could cause. This is supported by the frequent assessment  
and accreditation of our premises by regulatory authorities to 
ensure our operations, teams and facilities remain complaint. 

Our Showrooms
Peter Warren recognises its impact on its environment,  
and we seek to reduce our carbon emissions through 
investments in our locations, in the form of, for example,  
the installation of solar panel systems, energy efficient  
lED lighting and EV charging units at many of our locations.  
Our property planning includes environmental sustainability  
as a key part of our strategy.

At Peter Warren we recognise 
our position as a responsible 
business, and we are committed 
to making a positive difference 
to all of our stakeholders, 
including our customers, our 
communities, our investors, and 
our people. The following pages 
detail our key Environmental, 
Social and Governance (ESG) 
practices, which we are 
committed to building upon and 
reviewing on an ongoing basis.
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Growth
We seek to continually find a  
better way to set ourselves apart.

Integrity
We do what is right, not what  
is easy, cheap, or convenient.  
We act with honesty, humility, 
consistency, and balance.

Focus
We make a difference in the lives of  
our people, our customers, and our 
community. We see things through their 
eyes, listening intently and ensuring the 
little things are done extraordinarily well.

Teamwork
We support and respect one another, 
taking personal accountability to 
delivery on common goals. We are a safe 
and diverse environment for everyone.

Social
Peter Warren Foundational Values 
Our G.I.F.T. Value Proposition

Our core principals have been at the heart of our values-driven 
business since its inception in 1958. Many things have changed 
in 60 years, but our principals have always led our interactions 
throughout this period. In 2018, following a period of 
significant growth, we undertook to modernise and simplify 
our underlying cultural framework to lead us into the next  
60 years. G.I.F.T. was subsequently launched as the standard 
by which we interact with all our stakeholders, both internally 
and externally. 

Our Growth and Integrity values drive the delivery of  
customer experience through integrated and modernised 
service, always seeking to advance our high standards to 
address a wide variety of automotive needs through a strong 
moral lens. Similarly, Focus and Teamwork drive a framework 
that prioritises personalised interactions with customers, as 
well as employee engagement and specialisation, contributing 
to high customer retention across the ownership life cycle. 

G.I.F.T. drives all our internal 
review standards, is at  
the heart of our success 
celebrations and ensures we 
remain connected with our 
consumers and communities. 

The drivers behind G.I.F.T were established with all stakeholders in mind and are interchangeable between 
internal and external interactions:
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Environmental,  
Social and Governance
Continued

Develop Reward Invest Value Empower (D.R.I.V.E) Program

Our DRIVE program reflects our commitment to ensuring our 
team achieve their career potential within our organisation as 
well as delivering an environment that empowers our people  
to deliver exceptional outcomes and our appetite pursue  
a high engaged workforce. 

DRIVE delivers a five-phase support network to increase 
productivity, retention, recognition, remuneration and build  
a fit-for-future skilled workforce. This is provided through  
the following pillars:

 • Develop – Continual personal development, and mentorship

 • Reward – Optimising career progress pathways and  
market driven performance-based remuneration

 • Invest – upskilling, cross training, co-resourcing,  
and future workforce planning to combat industry  
changes and skills shortages

 • Value – Creating engagement checkpoints, frequent  
review assessments and celebrating success

 • Empower – Through flexible scheduling, bespoke career 
mapping and self-paced learning

Together, Peter Warren’s G.I.F.T. and DRIVE initiatives are  
a reminder to management, employees, and customers alike  
of the Company’s intent on furthering our expertise, staying 
ahead of industry trends, and listening to feedback from 
customers to create exceptional experiences.

Safety of our people 
The Health, Safety and Wellbeing of our people and customers 
is a fundamental responsibility we accept and take seriously. 
We are experiencing unprecedented change in our workplace 
in areas such as technology advancement through to 
COVID-19 related safety protocols. In FY21, we have invested 
in processes, platforms, and human capital to ensure the 
evolution of risks we face are monitored and mitigated.

We have established frameworks for reporting of workplace 
safety incidents and related KPIs including lost Time Injury 
Frequency Rate (lTIFR). During the financial year we delivered 
a digital Work, Health and Safety platform designed to 
facilitate the monitoring, controlling, capturing and 
rectification of workplace risks and assist us in developing  
safe systems of operation in an environment of continuous 
improvement for our people and consumers. This has been 
supported by the appointment of a specialised return to work 
service provider. 

Diversity and Inclusion
Following our IPO in April 2021, the Board formally adopted 
our Diversity and Inclusion policy, which has been published  
on Peter Warren’s corporate website (www.pwah.com.au).

The development of Diversity and Inclusion programs will 
improve our education regarding talent attraction and 
development processes to establish a highly qualified and 
diverse workforce and applicant pool. We have taken the 
important first step of reporting on the composition of our 
workforce at 30 June 2021, which is as follows:

Male Female

Board 75% 25%

Senior Executive1 100% 0%

Whole of company 76% 24%

1. Senior Executive is an internal definition based on the composition 
of the national executive group.

Our objectives for the FY22 year include:

 • Completion of the Workplace Gender Equality Agency 
(WGEA) reporting questionnaire

 • Ensure that recruitment and selection practices at all levels 
are appropriately structured so that a diverse range of 
candidates are considered

 • Develop our diversity and inclusion programs 

 • Improve education regarding talent attraction processes  
to establish a highly qualified and diverse talent pool

 • Measure the impact of our diversity and inclusion programs

 • Enhance our management gender equality levels
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Governance

Data Privacy and Security
With the emergence of ever-increasing cyber security  
threats and attacks globally, Peter Warren has placed an 
increased focus around data security and privacy. During FY21, 
we have further advanced our security posture within our 
infrastructure, business systems and 3rd party providers. 

Managing our customer’s privacy is at the forefront of our  
data security models. We partner with leading cyber security 
experts to assess our business and conduct to focus on best 
practice alignment, planning and testing of our systems. 
Measuring our compliance and effectiveness of our 
infrastructure and business systems to enable our business  
to be current to vulnerabilities within the ever-demanding 
security realm is a key priority. Our future business plans  
focus on these key elements to ensure that, as the security 
landscape changes, our business can adapt to these  
demands quickly. 

Corporate Governance and policy setting
Peter Warren’s Board of Directors adopts a primary 
responsibility to represent and advance the interests of 
Shareholders and to protect the interests of all stakeholders  
of Peter Warren, considered as a whole. To fulfil this 
responsibility, the Board oversees the management of the 
Business by, among other things:

 • determining the strategic direction and objectives of  
Peter Warren and approving its annual business plans  
and budgets; and

 • monitoring the Businesses achievement of these goals, 
including in particular its operational and financial position 
and performance.

The Board has developed and adopted a framework  
of corporate governance policies and practices, risk 
management practices and relevant internal controls that  
it believes are appropriate for Peter Warren, and that are 
designed to promote the responsible management and 
conduct of the Group. These policies are available on  
https://www.pwah.com.au/site/investor-centre/
corporate-governance

 • Anti-Bribery and Corruption Policy

 • Code of Conduct

 • Disclosure Policy

 • Diversity and Inclusion Policy

 • Securities Trading Policy

 • Shareholder Communication Policy

 • Whistleblower Policy

A summary of a selection of these policies is included below:

Code of Conduct

Our Code of Conduct policy provides guidelines linked  
with our G.I.F.T values to assist employees understand and 
maintain a genuine and respectful working environment,  
for our customers and our community. 

 Anti-Bribery and Corruption

The nature of our high valued discretionary products presents 
Peter Warren with a risk to the potential of illegal and unethical 
practices presented through cash handling and opportunity  
for fraud related activities. Employee education is a principal 
aim of Peter Warren and our teams undertake an annual 
mandatory assessment of Anti-Bribery and Corruption as well 
as Anti-Money laundering and Counter-Terrorism activities.

We monitor acknowledgment of these policies via our 
employment systems platforms.

Modern Slavery

Peter Warren has complied and lodged its Modern Slavery 
Statement providing insight into our modern slavery risks  
and the actions we have taken to understand these risks  
and mitigate them. 

In seeking to identify the modern slavery risks in our operations 
and supply chain, we considered the potential for our business 
to cause, contribute to, or be directly linked to modern slavery. 
Within this assessment, we have undertaken a geographic  
risk assessment, an employment practices assessment and a 
supply chain risk assessment including a broad range of direct 
suppliers from various locations and industries.

Peter Warren has adopted a risk-based approach in assessing 
the human rights risks in our supply chain, in line with the 
united nations Guiding Principles on Business and Human 
Rights. In summary, we issued modern slavery questionnaires 
(MSQ) to a subset of our suppliers and analysed the feedback 
to assess our risk. We adopted policies such as our Human 
Rights Policy and Supplier Code of Conduct to inform and 
guide our suppliers and employees in our efforts to help 
eradicate modern slavery. 
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Board of Directors

Board and  
Management

John Ingram 
Independent Non-Executive Chair

Member of the Audit and  
Risk Committee

Member of the People and  
Remuneration Committee

Please see page 19 of the Director's 
Report for more information  
on John Ingram

Paul Warren 
Executive Director

Member of the Audit and Risk Committee

Member of the People and  
Remuneration Committee

Please see page 19 of the Director's 
Report for more information  
on Paul Warren

Other Key Management Personnel

Catherine West 
Independent Non-Executive Director

Chair of the People and  
Remuneration Committee

Member of the Audit and  
Risk Committee

Please see page 20 of the Director's 
Report for more information on 
Catherine West

niran Peiris 
Independent Non-Executive Director

Chair of the Audit and Risk Committee

Member of the People and 
Remuneration Committee

Please see page 20 of the Director's 
Report for more information on  
niran Peiris

Mark Weaver 
Chief Executive Officer

Mark has 15+ years Automotive 
experience including advisory, 
compliance, mergers & acquisitions,  
and commercial operational roles. 
Previously a Partner with Deloitte,  
on the Automotive retail sector,  
Mark worked with many of the leading 
Automotive groups across Australia.

Since joining the group he has 
performed several executive roles  
whilst establishing platforms for  
future growth. A member of the 
Chartered Accountants Australia  
and new Zealand, a Fellow of the 
Association of Chartered Certified 
Accountants, and a Chartered  
Tax Advisor.

Bernard Friend 
Chief Financial Officer and  
Company Secretary

Bernard is Peter Warren Automotive 
Holdings' Chief Financial Officer  
and Company Secretary, responsible 
for the Company’s accounting,  
finance, risk and compliance functions. 
Bernard has been with the Company 
since 1982 and has over 38 years’ 
experience working in the automotive 
industry. Before joining Peter Warren 
Automotive Holdings, Bernard was  
an accountant at Horwath Chartered 
Accountants and, prior to that, the 
Australian Tax Office. Bernard is a 
Chartered Accountant and holds a 
Bachelor of Commerce.
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Directors’ report
30 June 2021

the Directors present their report, together with the financial statements, on the consolidated entity (referred to 
hereafter as the ‘Group’) consisting of peter Warren Automotive Holdings limited (referred to hereafter as the 
‘Company’ or ‘parent entity’) and the entities it controlled at the end of, or during, the year ended 30 June 2021.

Directors

the following persons were Directors of peter Warren Automotive Holdings limited during the whole of the financial 
year and up to the date of this report, unless otherwise stated:

John Ingram – Chairman (appointed on 6 April 2021)
paul Warren – executive Director
Catherine West – Non-executive Director (appointed on 6 April 2021)
Niran peiris – Non-executive Director (appointed on 6 April 2021)
Bernard Friend – executive Director (resigned on 6 April 2021)
Jonathon pearce – Non-executive Director (resigned on 6 April 2021)
Christopher Coates – Non-executive Director (resigned on 24 November 2020)

principal activities

the principal activities of the Group during the year were the sale of new and used motor vehicles, related spare parts 
inventory and trade related services. there have been no significant changes in the nature of the Group’s principal 
activities during the year.

Dividends

Dividends paid during the financial year were as follows:

CONSOLIDATED

2021 
$’000

2020 
$’000

Dividend paid on ordinary shares during the year ended 30 June 2021 27,213 –
Dividend paid on B class shares during the year ended 30 June 2021 26,742 –
Dividend paid on C class shares during the year ended 30 June 2021 11,045 –
Dividend paid on D class shares during the year ended 30 June 2021 1,267 –

66,267 –

As outlined in the prospectus, the Directors have determined that the Company will not pay a further dividend  
in respect of the financial year ended 30 June 2021.

operating and financial review

the profit for the Group after providing for income tax amounted to $37,546,000 (30 June 2020: $8,908,000).

peter Warren is an Automotive Dealership group with a rich heritage that has been operating in Australia for over  
60 years. the Company operates 74 franchise operations and represents 28 oeMs across the Volume, prestige and 
luxury segments. 

peter Warren operates under 6 banners consisting of peter Warren Automotive, Frizelle Sunshine Automotive,  
Sydney North Shore Automotive, Mercedes-Benz North Shore, Macarthur Automotive, and euro Collision Centre.
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Financial Result Summary

Financial results for the year ending 30 June 2021 are summarised as follows:

STATUTORY PROFORMA

Full year 
($m) FY21 Actual

FY21 
Prospectus 

Forecast
Var 
% FY21 Actual

FY21 
Prospectus 

Forecast Var %

Revenue 1,635.0 1,527.0 +7% 1,621.2 1,527.0 +6%
eBItDA 102.1 70.4 +45% 108.0 76.0 +42%
profit before tax 54.8 22.4 +144% 75.7 45.0 +68%
NpAt 37.5 15.4 +143% 52.2 31.4 +66%

FY21 Results Review

proforma revenue of $1,621,210,000 was up 17.8% on FY20, exceeding our expectations. this was underpinned by 
heightened demand particularly in the latter part of the financial year. total new vehicle unit growth from FY19 to  
FY21 has increased +0.6% (2-year CAGR) which is above the national market which declined 2.8% over the same  
period (2-year CAGR).1

All revenue departments, including New Vehicles, used Vehicles, Aftermarket, parts and Accessories, Finance and 
Insurance (F&I) and Service delivered growth in the year. this indicates performance beyond the buoyant market 
conditions, showcasing our “bundling” approach to every consumer transaction.

the strong revenue growth, combined with delivery of planned cost reductions, improved supplier terms and operating 
efficiencies have delivered significant operating leverage, with proforma eBItDA margin of 6.7% (FY20: 3.6%).

In addition to benefiting from strong volumes, an improved gross profit per unit was evident in the market. proforma 
gross profit margins were 18.0%, some 200bps above FY20 and 110bps ahead of prospectus forecast. Strong revenue 
growth in higher margin revenue categories such as service, aftermarket and F&I also contributed.

our ongoing focus on operating efficiencies and cost reductions delivered a proforma operating cost margin  
of 11.4% which is an improvement of 110bps on the prior year and ahead of the prospectus forecast by 60bps.  
proforma operating costs were 1% above prospectus forecast on revenue 6% higher than prospectus forecast.

operating costs have benefited from a managed cost reduction strategy, with costs savings (as a percentage of 
revenue) being delivered across employee benefits expense, advertising and inventory holding costs. Improvements  
in employee expenses were delivered in the main through a reduction in trading hours, without impacting revenues.

Interest expense, which includes floor plan interest relating to our inventory holdings, was well managed. the proforma 
result also includes $2.2m of incremental depreciation relating to Warwick Farm and Southport properties which were 
acquired as part of the Ipo.

COVID-19 impact

throughout the pandemic, the safety of our customers and our team has been of utmost importance. We have 
managed our workforce during lockdown periods in line with the business activity and relevant government 
regulations. We also continue to invest in our people, with 365 new apprenticeship and traineeship opportunities 
created during the year.

our experiences this year have highlighted the resilience of our operating model and that order volumes recover 
quickly once lockdowns ease.

the FY21 statutory result includes $535,000 (net) in JobKeeper income which is excluded from the proforma result.  
the Company received JobKeeper funding from the Australian Government during the financial year ended 
30 June 2021 totalling $13,850,000. the Board of Directors agreed in February 2021 to repay to the Australian 
Government JobKeeper funds that the Company received during the financial year ended 30 June 2021, other than 
those passed through to employees as a top-up to earnings as prescribed by legislation which came to $535,000.  
the work undertaken to adapt our operations and deliver efficiencies during the year enabled us to repay Jobkeeper.

1 VFacts Australia.
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We continue to demonstrate our ability to adapt and respond to the current environment, fast-tracking the 
implementation of click & collect and contactless trading to ensure we safely manage the needs of our customers.  
We have made significant investments in our It infrastructure, responding to shifting consumer trends, and  
enhanced our digital capabilities through new website rollouts and enhanced digital functionality. 

Significant changes in the state of affairs 

on 18 February 2021, the Company changed name from pWA Holdings one pty limited to peter Warren Automotive 
Holdings limited. on 23 March 2021 the Company also changed from a proprietary company to a public company. 

on 26 April 2021, the Company completed an initial public offering (‘Ipo’) of 166,555,203 ordinary shares at $2.90  
per share and was admitted to the official list of ASX limited with the ASX code pWR. the net proceeds of the  
Ipo after payment of fees and expenses were $245,770,000. 

there were no other significant changes in the state of affairs of the Group during the financial year.

Matters subsequent to the end of the financial year

Impact of COVID-19

the consequences of the Coronavirus (CoVID-19) pandemic continue to be felt around the world and subsequent  
to 30 June 2021, trading has been impacted by lockdowns in New South Wales and, to a lesser extent, Queensland.

However, the impact has been mitigated somewhat by a strong new vehicle order bank at 30 June 2021 which has 
supported the delivery of new vehicles in Q1FY22. 

the extent and duration of these lockdowns is unknown however, it would appear that control measures and related 
government policies, including the roll out of the vaccine, will begin to mitigate the risks caused by CoVID-19.

We have taken proactive steps to adapt to these challenges, including adapting the sales model to click and collect, 
further enhancing our digital capabilities and managing our variable costs in line with trading conditions. Management 
continues to monitor the situation. 

No other matter or circumstance has arisen since 30 June 2021 that has significantly affected, or may significantly 
affect the Group’s operations, the results of those operations, or the Group’s state of affairs in future financial years.

likely developments and expected results of operations

Impact of COVID-19

As at the date these financial statements are authorised for issue, the Directors of the Group have assessed that  
there is currently no material financial impact of the CoVID-19 pandemic on the Group’s financial position and results.

the extent of the future impact of the CoVID-19 pandemic on the Group’s operational and financial performance  
will depend on certain developments, including the duration and spread of the outbreak, the timing and impact  
of proposed vaccination programs, regulations imposed by governments with respect to the outbreaks response,  
and the impact on customers, employees and vendors all of which are uncertain and cannot be predicted at this time.

Given the inherent unpredictability associated with the CoVID-19 pandemic outbreak and any further contingency 
measures that may be put in place by the relevant governments and corporate entities combined with customer 
behaviours, the actual financial impact of the CoVID-19 pandemic outbreak, if any, on the Group could be significantly 
different from the current status assessment disclosed above depending on how the situation evolves.

other than these developments, the Group expects to continue its principal activities for the foreseeable future.

environmental regulation

the Group is subject to various environmental regulations at its dealerships and service centres. to the Directors’ 
knowledge there were no material adverse environmental issues during the year.
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Information on Directors

Name: John Ingram

Title: Independent Non-executive Chair

Qualifications: AM, FCpA

Experience and expertise: John was appointed to the Board as Non-executive Chairman on 6 April 2021. 
John is an experienced director and chairman, currently also serving as the  
non-executive chairman of Nick Scali limited and having previously been the 
managing director of Crane Group limited.

Other current 
directorships:

Non-executive Chairman of Nick Scali limited

Former directorships 
(last 3 years):

Non-executive Chairman of Shriro Holdings limited retired on 27 February 2020.

Special responsibilities: Member of the Audit and Risk Committee
Member of the people and Remuneration Committee

Interests in shares: 142,242 ordinary shares

Interests in rights: None

Name: paul Warren

Title: executive Director

Qualifications: Bachelor of Business

Experience and expertise: paul, the eldest son of the Company’s founder, peter Warren, is an executive Director 
of the Company. paul joined the Company in 1975 after completing a Bachelor of 
Business and has over 46 years’ experience working in the automotive industry. 
In 1982, paul took over the executive management of the business and has been 
instrumental in the commercial expansion of the Group since that time, integrating 
many acquisitions and developing strategies for the organic growth of the Group. 
As part of the listing, paul transitioned his Ceo duties to Mark Weaver but remains 
as an executive Director and continues to work with Mark on strategy and M&A whilst 
maintaining the Company’s relationships with original equipment Manufacturer 
(oeMs), financiers and large fleet customers. paul’s experience extends across  
all elements of the automotive industry including representation on various dealer 
councils, including currently serving as a Board member of the Australian Automotive 
Dealer Association.

Other current 
directorships:

None

Former directorships 
(last 3 years):

None

Special responsibilities: Member of the Audit and Risk Committee 
Member of the people and Remuneration Committee

Interests in shares: 58,426,756 ordinary shares

Interests in options: None
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Name: Catherine West

Title: Independent Non-executive Director

Qualifications: Bachelor of laws (Hons), Bachelor of economics, Graduate Member of the  
Australian Institute of Company Directors

Experience and expertise: Catherine was appointed to the Board as Non-executive Director on 6 April 2021. 
Catherine has over 25 years’ legal, business affairs and strategy experience in  
the media, entertainment, telecommunications and medical sectors in Australia,  
the uK and europe.

Other current 
directorships:

She is currently a non-executive director of ASX-listed Nine entertainment 
Co Holdings ltd, endeavour Group limited and Monash IVF Group. She is also a 
non-executive director of the National Institute of Dramatic Art (NIDA) Foundation, 
the National Institute of Dramatic Art (NIDA), the Vice-president of the Sydney Breast 
Cancer Foundation at Chris o’Brien lifehouse and a Governor of Wenona School.

Former directorships 
(last 3 years):

None

Special responsibilities: Chair of the people and Remuneration Committee 
Member of the Audit and Risk Committee

Interests in shares: 17,242 ordinary shares

Interests in rights: None

Name: Niran peiris

Title: Independent Non-executive Director

Qualifications: Bachelor of economics, Bachelor of laws

Experience and expertise: Niran has an extensive background in financial services and insurance having been  
a Member of the Board of Management of Allianz Se, Ceo of Allianz Australia and 
also having held a number of other executive level roles (including CFo) at Allianz  
and other Australian insurance companies. prior to that he worked in accounting 
services firms as a tax specialist.

Other current 
directorships:

None

Former directorships 
(last 3 years):

None

Special responsibilities: Chair of the Audit and Risk Committee 
Member of the people and Remuneration Committee

Interests in shares: 51,725 ordinary shares

Interests in rights: None

‘other current directorships’ quoted above are current directorships for listed entities only and excludes directorships 
of all other types of entities, unless otherwise stated.

‘Former directorships (last 3 years)’ quoted above are directorships held in the last 3 years for listed entities only and 
excludes directorships of all other types of entities, unless otherwise stated.
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Company secretary

Bernard Friend is the Company’s Chief Financial officer and Company Secretary, responsible for the Company’s 
accounting, finance, risk and compliance functions. Bernard has been with the Company since 1982 and has over 
38 years’ experience working in the automotive industry. Before joining the Company’s, Bernard was an accountant 
at Horwath Chartered Accountants and, prior to that, the Australian tax office.

Meetings of Directors

the number of meetings of the Company’s Board of Directors (‘the Board’) and of each Board committee held during 
the year ended 30 June 2021, and the number of meetings attended by each Director were:

FULL BOARD
PEOPLE AND 

REMUNERATION COMMITTEE
AUDIT AND RISK 

MANAGEMENT COMMITTEE

Attended Held Attended Held Attended Held

John Ingram 3 4 1 1 1 1
paul Warren 12 12 1 1 1 1
Catherine West 4 4 1 1 1 1
Niran peiris 4 4 1 1 1 1
Bernard Friend 9 9 – – – –
Jonathan pearce 9 9 – – – –
Christopher Coates 4 4 – – – –

Held: represents the number of meetings held during the time the Director held office or was a member of the relevant committee.
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Remuneration report

1 letter from Committee Chair

peter Warren Automotive Holdings limited (peter Warren) marked a significant milestone in financial year 2021 (FY21) 
with the listing on the Australian Securities exchange (ASX) on 27 April 2021. on behalf of the Board, I am pleased to 
provide our shareholders with the Company’s inaugural remuneration report. Key Management personnel include the 
Chief executive officer, other executive Key Management personnel and Non-executive Directors.

this report describes the Company’s director and executive remuneration framework. the description is consistent 
with that of the prospectus. Remuneration outcomes are reported for the full financial year ending 30 June 2021, 
covering the period before and after the Ipo on 27 April 2021.

Outcomes for FY21

FY21 was a year both challenging and rewarding. the CoVID-19 pandemic presented operational issues as various 
localities on the east coast of Australia suffered from government mandated lockdowns, impacting sales and service 
at various times during the year. Supply chains were also disrupted, impacting new car availability and spare parts 
inventories. Nevertheless, demand was buoyant, enabled in part by government monetary support to a good 
proportion of the population, and consumer savings facilitated by both government support, and fewer opportunities 
to spend these savings.

peter Warren sought government assistance (such as JobKeeper) during the financial year. the Board agreed to repay 
the JobKeeper funds received in FY21, other than those passed through to employees as a “top up” of their salary. 
Neither the receipt of JobKeeper nor repayment was included in financial performance for determining the StI 
outcomes for executive KMp.

the Board deliberated on StI key performance indicator (KpI) outcomes given the unusual environment and high 
demand. though we benefited from an increase in consumer demand, the management team’s initiative of expanding 
existing revenue streams, negotiating and rationalising our expense base across our business and of course delivering 
on a successful ASX listing, enabled us to achieve an excellent outcome for the FY21 year. Statutory profit before  
tax for FY21 was $54.797m compared to $11.797m in FY20 and above the prospectus forecast of $45.0m. Stemming  
from this management achieved maximum ratings on their StI scorecards. Nevertheless, the Board considered the 
appropriateness of awarding a maximum StI payout in light of the effects of the pandemic, management underlying 
performance and other factors, and on balance decided that the maximum payment was appropriate.

Looking towards the future

FY21 executive KMp remuneration policies and levels were set when peter Warren was an unlisted company prior to  
the appointment of the current independent directors. 

As part of the listing process the Board has put in place a remuneration framework for FY22 which the Board considers 
is appropriate for peter Warren as a newly listed ASX company.

the FY22 remuneration framework is described in detail in the prospectus. executive KMp remuneration will include  
an StI financial target based on budgeted group net profit after tax, with an eighty percent (80%) weighting. twenty 
percent (20%) will be assessed against individual measures including financial and strategic measures determined  
by the board. thirty percent (30%) of the StI payment will be in the form of restricted rights which are deferred for  
12 months, with malus and clawback provisions. the framework also includes an ltI grant in FY22 based on an  
earnings per Share (epS) measure which will have a 3 year performance period commencing on 1 June 2021 and  
ending on 30 June 2024. 

the FY22 remuneration framework is designed to attract, retain and motivate peter Warren’s executives and to align 
executives’ interests with the creation of long term shareholder value by creating a clear link between performance, 
the company’s strategic objectives and remuneration outcomes.
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I would personally like to thank paul Warren, Mark Weaver, Bernard Friend and the whole peter Warren team for 
successfully completing the Ipo process and for working with dedication and commitment to the peter Warren 
business to ensure the business has thrived through a very unusual year. peter Warren is a values driven business and 
the team has lived the G.I.F.t. values this year – Growth, Integrity, Focus and teamwork. the whole team has looked 
after its customers and each other, and successfully executed the company strategy to create real shareholder value. 

I trust you find this report informative. I encourage you to vote in favour of the report and welcome any questions  
at the Annual General Meeting. 

Catherine West
Chair of the people and Remuneration Committee

2 Remuneration report overview

the directors of peter Warren Automotive Holdings limited (the Company or peter Warren) present the Remuneration 
Report (the Report) for the Company and its controlled entities for the year ended 30 June 2021. the Report forms  
part of the Directors’ Report and has been prepared and audited in accordance with Section 300A of the Australian 
Corporations Act 2001.

3 Remuneration governance

3.1 People and Remuneration committee

the people and Remuneration Committee (the Committee) provides advice and recommendations to the Board 
regarding remuneration matters.

the Committee’s responsibilities include, among other things:

• Review and annually recommend to the Board arrangements for executive KMp, including contract terms, annual 
remuneration, participation in short-term incentive and long-term incentive plans;

• Review and recommend incentive performance targets to executive KMp to encourage growth and success;

• Recommend to the Board whether offers are to be made under the employee equity incentive plans in respect  
of a financial year and terms of the offers;

• Review and make recommendations to the Board on remuneration by gender;

• Review and recommend to the Board the remuneration arrangements for the Chair and the non-executive directors 
of the Board, including fees, travel, other benefits and any non-executive director equity plan;

• oversee the process for seeking shareholder approvals in relation to remuneration arrangements, including any 
grants of equity to the Ceo and increases to the non-executive director fee cap;

• Approving the appointment of remuneration consultants for the purposes of Corporations Act 2001;

• take appropriate action to oversee that the Committee, Board and management have available to them sufficient 
information and external advice to oversee informed decision-making regarding remuneration;

• oversee management’s preparation of the Remuneration Report and review and recommend to the Board the 
remuneration report prepared in accordance with the Corporations Act for inclusion in the annual Directors’ Report;

• Review and facilitate shareholder and other stakeholder engagement in relation to remuneration policies  
and practices;

• Recommend equitable remuneration structures that are aligned with the long-term interests of the Company  
and its shareholders and that attract and retains skilled executives;
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• to structure short and long-term incentives both challenging and linked to the creation of sustainable  
shareholder returns;

• Succession planning for Key Management personnel;

• Assist the Board with a skill matrix to identify a mix of skills, expertise, experience and diversity that the Board 
currently has, and potential gaps in skills and experience of the Board; and

• people and Culture strategies and policies.

A copy of the charter of the Committee is available on peter Warren’s website in the Corporate Governance section 
https://www.pwah.com.au/site/investor-centre/corporate-governance.

Members of the Committee during 2021 were:

• Catherine West – Independent Non-executive Director (Chair)

• Niran peiris – Independent non-executive Director

• John Ingram – Independent Non-executive Director

At the Committee’s invitation the Ceo, and other relevant managers attend meetings in an advisory capacity and 
co-ordinate the work of external, independent advisors as requested. All executives are excluded from any discussions 
impacting their own remuneration.

under its Charter, the Committee must meet at least three times a year. the Committee was formed in April 2021 and 
formally met once in FY21. the Committee also met informally on a number of occasions to progress issues on foot  
and to design the FY22 Remuneration Framework.

the Committee may seek the advice of the Company’s auditors, solicitors or other independent advisers, consultants 
or specialists as to any matter relating to the powers, duties or responsibilities of the Committee.

Any engagement with third parties will be in a manner that seeks to ensure that engagement and advice received  
is independent.

None of the Committee’s engagements were for work which constituted remuneration recommendations for the 
purposes of the Australian Corporations Act 2001.

3.2 Securities trading policy

the Company has adopted a securities trading policy which will apply to the Company’s Directors, senior management 
and any other person designated by the Board from time to time. this policy is designed to explain the types of conduct 
in relation to dealings in Shares that are prohibited under the Corporations Act and to establish procedures in relation 
to such persons’ dealings in the Shares. Subject to certain exceptions, the securities trading policy defines certain 
“blackout periods” during which trading in Shares by the Company’s Directors, officers, employees, and people close 
to them is prohibited.
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4 Key management personnel

Key management personnel (KMp) covered in this report are detailed below (See 19 for details of each director):

table 1: Key Management personnel

NAME POSITION HELD APPOINTED

Non-Executive Directors

John Ingram Independent Non-executive Chairman 6 April 2021

Catherine West Independent Non-executive Director 6 April 2021

Niran peiris Independent Non-executive Director 6 April 2021

Jonathon pearce Independent Non-executive Director From 1 July 2020 to 6 April 2021

Christopher Coates Independent Non-executive Director From 1 July 2020 to 24 November 2020

Executive Director

paul Warren executive Director From 1 April 2021 to 30 June 2021

executive Director and Chief executive officer From 1 July 2020 to 31 March 2021

Executives

Mark Weaver Chief executive officer From 1 April 2021 to 30 June 2021

Chief operating officer From 1 July 2020 to 31 March 2021

Bernard Friend Chief Financial officer From 6 April 2021 to 30 June 2021

executive Director and Chief Financial officer From 1 July 2020 to 6 April 2021

5 executive remuneration

5.1 Remuneration strategy

the principles of the peter Warren remuneration policy are to:

• Attract, retain and motivate talent;

• Reward executives and other employees fairly and responsibly, having regard to the performance of peter Warren, 
the competitive environment and individual performance and conduct;

• ensure alignment between shareholders’ and executives’ interests;

• provide a clear link between performance and remuneration outcomes;

• ensure remuneration outcomes are consistent with peter Warren’s long-term strategic objectives and the delivery  
of long-term shareholder wealth creation; and

• Compliance with all relevant legal and regulatory provisions.

Fixed remuneration reflects executives’ skills and experience and aims to attract and retain qualified and experienced 
executives to ensure shareholder interests are managed in an efficient and effective manner.

the short-term incentive reflects achievement of challenging financial KpIs for the financial year. the incentive 
payments are fully self-funded from current year’s profit.

5.2 Remuneration Framework

peter Warren’s FY21 executive KMp remuneration structure comprises the following elements:

• Fixed Annual Remuneration (FAR);

• Superannuation;

• Short-term Incentive (StI); and

• Ipo Grants – performance rights granted following listing.
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the chart below displays the FY21 executive remuneration pay mix of fixed annual remuneration, maximum short-term 
incentive and the face value of Ipo rights at grant.
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Fixed Annual Remuneration (FAR) Short-Term Incentives (STI) IPO Grant

5.2.1 Fixed Annual Remuneration (FAR)

the following table presents the FAR of the executive KMp for FY21.

table 2: executive KMp Fixed Annual Remuneration (FY21)

NAME OF EXECUTIVE POSITION FIXED ANNUAL REMUNERATION

paul Warren executive Director $787,500 (exclusive of superannuation)

Mark Weaver Ceo $525,000 (exclusive of superannuation)

Bernard Friend CFo $525,000 (exclusive of superannuation)

Superannuation contributions are capped at the concessional contributions threshold per annum under taxation law 
which applies to the employee from time to time.

An annual FAR review budget, authorised by the Board each year, is used to adjust individual FARs to ensure that  
their fixed remuneration remains fair and competitive for their specific skills, competence, and value to the Company.

5.2.2 Short-term Incentive (StI)

executive KMp have the opportunity to earn an annual StI which is based on a percentage of FAR. the FY21  
StI reflects policies and levels that are consistent with the prospectus and when the Company was unlisted.

the table below presents the features and approach for the peter Warren StI plan.

table 3: FY21 peter Warren StI plan

FEATURE APPROACH

purpose Align individual performance and company objectives.

eligibility executive KMp

Form of payment 100% Cash

opportunity table 4: StI opportunity

Name (Position) Target STI
Target STI 

as a % of FAR Max STI
Max STI 

as a % FAR

p Warren (eD) $787,500 100% $1,771,875 225%
M Weaver (Ceo) $262,500 50% $590,625 112.5%
B Friend (CFo) $315,000 60% $708,750 135%
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FEATURE APPROACH

performance period 1 July 2020 to 30 June 2021.

performance measure Company’s profit Before tax (pBt) was chosen as it is aligned with the business strategy 
and enables the self-funding of the incentive pool.

FY21 StI was assessed in relation to the Company’s profit Before tax (pBt). A target 
corporate budget for pBt is determined at the beginning of the year. Actual performance 
is measured at and confirmed on receipt of audited results. the percentage of target  
pBt achieved determines the percentage of target StI outcome for the executives.

the target and maximum StI for each KMp is set out in the table above.

payment timing the StI is paid in two installments, one at half year and the balance following the end  
of the financial year, once audited annual accounts are publicly disclosed.

Board discretion Board has absolute discretion on StI performance assessment and payment.

treatment on 
termination

Cessation of employment during the measurement period will result in pro rata forfeiture 
of StI awards.

5.2.3 Ipo Grants

performance rights were granted to the Ceo and CFo upon listing of the Company. these rights are intended  
to align executives’ interests with those of shareholders, as ltI grants will not be made until FY22, and will not  
vest until 30 June 2024. eligible executive KMps will be offered an ltI in FY22 as set out in the prospectus.

table 4: Ipo Grants

FEATURE APPROACH

purpose to incentivise executives and align their interests with those of shareholders.

participants Ceo and CFo

Date of grant 6 April 2021

Instruments issued performance rights (rights) which are rights to acquire shares in the Company 
for nil consideration.

Number of 
instruments granted

Mark Weaver (Ceo): 99,137 
Bernard Friend (CFo): 90,517

performance 
conditions

Board’s assessment of the delivery of financial forecasts in the prospectus must be  
at least “Meets expectations” or better.

performance and 
vesting period

prospectus forecast period i.e. 27 April 2021 to 31 December 2021.

Service condition executives must be an employee of a Group Company until 31 December 2021.

expiry date 15 years from grant date.

treatment of 
dividends and 
voting rights

Rights do not have voting rights or accrue dividend benefits.

Rights are converted to shares upon exercise.

Discretion and malus the Board has sole discretion to determine that some or all rights that are unvested or 
subject to an exercise restriction held by a participant lapse on a specified date if allowing 
the rights to be exercised would, in the opinion of the Board, result in an inappropriate 
benefit to the participant. 

treatment on 
termination

If employment with the Company is terminated before the end of the performance period 
for any reason, all performance rights will be forfeited immediately unless otherwise 
determined by the Board.

Change of control Vesting is subject to Board discretion.
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5.3 Remuneration outcomes for FY21

5.3.1 Company performance

the table below provides an overview of how performance for FY21 has determined remuneration outcomes  
for executive KMp.

As peter Warren listed on the ASX on 27 April 2021, it is not possible to address the statutory requirement for  
a discussion of the link between five-year performance and remuneration.

table 5: Financial performance

Financial Summary for year Ended 30 June
2021 
$’m

2020 
$’m

2019 
$’m

2018 
$’m

2017 
$’m

Revenue 1,612.2 1,366.4 1,405.3 1,435.6 830.1
Net profit/(loss) after tax 37.5 8.9 (0.4) 13.0 37.4
Basic earnings per share 
(cents per share) 50.15 – – – –
Diluted earnings per share  
(cents per share) 50.12 – – – –
Dividends paid ($’m) 66.267 – – 27.658 –
Share price at Ipo $2.90 – – – –
Closing share price $3.72 – – – –

5.3.2 Short-term Incentive (StI)

the Company outperformed its budget pBt target for FY21, exceeding maximum StI expectations for pBt. this was 
largely due to enhanced gross profit achievement and reduced expenses during the year. the pandemic facilitated 
discretionary spending for many in the community unable to spend on other discretionary items, such as international 
holidays, with peter Warren a beneficiary of this spend.

Management’s initiatives of driving gross profit performance across the revenue streams as well as strong expense 
management contributed to the outperformance. this achievement saw an StI payout of 225% (2.25 times) of target StI.

the Board devoted time in thinking through these StI outcomes. the management team performed well throughout 
the year, and pBt achieved the highest rating outcomes on their StI scorecards. However, the Board considered the 
appropriateness of awarding a maximum StI payout in light of the effects of the pandemic on the larger economy and 
workforce, as well as peter Warren operations. Various lockdowns and restriction impacted sales, service, and supply, 
requiring management to be agile, innovative and responsive. Safety standards for our employees and communities 
we serve were well met. peter Warren sought government assistance (such as Jobkeeper) during the financial year. 
the Board agreed to repay the JobKeeper funds received in FY21, other than those passed through to employees as a 
“top up” of their salary. Neither the receipt of JobKeeper nor repayment was included in determining the StI outcomes 
for executive KMp. While we noted the absence of an ltI plan for executives in this first year, this was to an extent 
balanced by the Ipo grant. prospectus and analysts’ forecasts were well exceeded. on balance, the Board determined 
that no discretion was necessary in this instance, and that StI payments be in accord with pBt achievement.

the final StI outcomes can be seen in the tables below.
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table 6: FY21 StI outcome

Name 
(Position)

Actual STI 
Cash

Actual STI as a 
% of max Target STI

Target STI as a 
% of FAR Max STI

Max STI as a % 
of FAR

p Warren
eD $1,771,875 100% $787,500 100% $1,771,875 225%
M Weaver
Ceo $590,625 100% $262,500 50% $590,625 112.5%
B Friend
CFo $708,750 100% $315,000 60% $708,750 135%

5.3.3 total remuneration

table 7 below sets out the ‘Realised Remuneration’ of executive KMp for 2021 in Australian dollars. It is included to 
complement the Statutory Remuneration disclosures to better illustrate the remuneration received by executives 
in FY21 service and performance.

table 7 details the Fixed Annual Remuneration and superannuation paid to the executive. the Short-term Incentive  
is the cash StI earned by the executive in respect of the year.

the Ipo Grant value is the value of the award that was granted in the year.

While this disclosure is non-statutory, it has been audited.

table 7: FY21 Realised remuneration

Name 
(Position) Year FAR 2 

Super-
annuation

Non-Monetary 
Benefits3 STI Payment

IPO Grant 
vested

Total Remuner-
ation Realised

p Warren 2021 $775,000 $25,000 $47,347 $1,771,875 $0 $2,619,222
eD
M Weaver 2021 $506,250 $25,000 $47,347 $590,625 $0 $1,169,222
Ceo
B Friend 2021 $518,750 $25,000 $47,347 $708,750 $0 $1,299,847
CFo

2 Fixed Annual Remuneration comprises of salary, excluding superannuation.
3 the amounts disclosed as non-monetary benefits includes things such as motor vehicle, motor vehicle insurance, fringe benefit 

tax on motor vehicle and fuel allowance.
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table 8 sets out the remuneration of executive KMp for the 2021 Financial Year in Australian Dollars and has been 
prepared in accordance with the requirements of Section 300A of the Australian Corporations Act 2001 and associated 
accounting standards.

table 8: 2021 Statutory remuneration

SHARE‑BASED PAYMENT4 

Name 
(Position) Year

Base 
Salary

Super-
annu-
ation

Non- 
Mon-
etary 

Benefits5 

Short-
term 
cash 

bonus6

Long 
Service 

Leave
Shares 
& units

Options 
& rights

Cash- 
settled

Sign-on 
/Termi-

nation 
payment

Total 
Statutory 

Remunera-
tion

% of 
per form-

ance-
based 

remun-
eration

Executive Director
p Warren 2021 $775,000 $25,000 $47,347 $1,771,875 $15,461 – $48,516 – – $2,683,199 67.84%
Executives
Ceo
M Weaver 2021 $506,250 $25,000 $47,347 $590,625 $17,151 – $669,082 – – $1,855,455 67.89%
CFo
B Friend 2021 $518,750 $25,000 $47,347 $708,750 $10,308 – $129,500 – – $1,439,655 58.23%

table 9: 2020 Statutory remuneration

SHARE‑BASED PAYMENT 

Name 
(Position) Year

Base 
Salary

Super-
annu-
ation

Non- 
Mon-
etary 

Benefits5 

Short-
term 
cash 

bonus4

Long 
Service 

Leave
Shares 
& units

Options 
& rights

Cash- 
settled

Sign-on 
/Termi-

nation 
payment

Total 
Statutory 

Remunera-
tion

% of 
per form-

ance-
based 

remun- 
eration

Executive Director
CEO
p Warren 2020 $712,500 $25,000 $48,160 – $9,178 – – – – $794,838 0%
Executives
Coo
M Weaver 2020 $480,000 $25,000 $48,160 – $5,950 – – – – $559,110 0%
CFo
B Friend 2020 $475,000 $25,000 $48,160 – $6,118 – – – – $554,278 0%

4 Represents the fair value of the equity grants during the period in accordance with AASB 2 Share-Based Payment and includes the Ipo Grants, 
the value of the non-recourse employee share loan and part of the equity component of the FY22 StI plan which was outlined in the prospectus.

5 the amounts disclosed as non-monetary benefits includes things such as motor vehicle, motor vehicle insurance, fringe benefit tax on motor 
vehicle and fuel allowance.

6 Cash Bonus paid or payable in respect of current year represents cash payments in relation to the 2021 financial year.
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5.4 Executive KMP Share and other equity holdings

5.4.1 executive KMp shareholdings

the movements in Share and other equity Holdings for KMp are disclosed in the table below.

table 10: KMp shareholdings

Executive Instrument Held at 1/7/20

Impact  
of share 

consolidation

Received  
on exercise 

of rights Other7 Held at 30/6/21

p Warren ordinary shares 99,215,735 (79,372,588) – 38,583,609 58,426,756
M Weaver ordinary shares – – – 375,248 375,248
B Friend ordinary shares 1,876,243 (1,500,995) – (307,748) 67,500

5.4.2 equity instruments details

Details of all equity that was granted in the year can be found in the following sections.

5.4.2.1 Rights

table 11: Rights movement during the year

Executives
Number 
Granted Grant Date

Exercise 
Date Expiry Date

Performance 
Measure

Fair value 
at grant % vested

% 
forfeited

Financial 
year 

to vest

M Weaver 
Ipo Grant

99,137 6/4/21 February 
2022

6/4/36 Non-market 
financial 
measure $2.90 – – 30/6/22

B Friend 
Ipo Grant

90,517 6/4/21 February 
2022

6/4/36 Non-market 
financial 
measure $2.90 – – 30/6/22

5.4.2.2 Loan Shares

Mark Weaver holds shares that were issued pursuant to a limited recourse loan (loan Shares). the loan attaching  
to the loan Shares is limited recourse and must be repaid out of any proceeds from the sale of the loan Shares or 
distributions received in respect of the loan Shares. Any dealings by Mark Weaver in shares will be deemed loan 
Shares and any proceeds from such sale will be applied to repay the loan. the loan Shares will be subject to  
peter Warren’s Securities trading policy and the escrow arrangements. the loan funded shares were granted  
for nil consideration.

these loan Shares are treated in substance and accounted for as options. Mark Weaver was granted a loan of 
$1,250,000. the exercise price of $5 per share is equal to the non-recourse loan value of $1,250,000. 100% of the grant 
vested in FY21. the accounting fair value of the loan funded shares is $1.95. the loan funded shares were valued with 
an expected life between 5-7 years.

5.4.3 equity vesting

loan funded shares were granted and exercised in the year. the following tables present all the equity that has vested 
or been granted that remain on foot.

7 other changes represent shares that were purchased or sold during the year.
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table 12: options and rights over equity instruments

Instrument
Grant 
Date

Held at 
1/7/20

Granted 
as 

compen-
sation

Exer-
cised

Lapsed/
Forfeited

Impact 
of share 
consoli-

dation
Held at 
30/6/21

Vested 
during 

the year

Vested 
and exer-
cisable at 

30/6/21

p Warren – – – – – – – – – –
– –

M Weaver Rights 6/4/21 – 99,137 – – – 99,137 – –
loan 
Funded 
Shares 5/11/20 – 250,000 – – (1,000,000) 250,000 250,000 250,000

B Friend Rights 6/4/21 90,517 – – – 90,517 – –
– –

5.5 Key terms of Executive KMP employment contracts

5.5.1 Notice and termination payments

table 13 sets out for the contractual provisions for current executive KMp

table 13: KMp contracts

Name 
(Position) Contract Type

Notice Period for 
Company

Notice Period 
for Employee

Termination 
Payment

Treatment 
of STI on 
term ination

Treatment 
of LTI on 
termination

p Warren 
executive 
Director

permanent 1 Year 1 Year up to 1 Year At Board’s 
discretion

At Board’s 
discretion

M Weaver 
Ceo

permanent 1 Year 1 Year up to 1 Year At Board’s 
discretion

At Board’s 
discretion

B Friend 
CFo

permanent 1 Year 1 Year up to 1 Year At Board’s 
discretion

At Board’s 
discretion

termination payments are calculated based upon fixed annual remuneration at the date of termination. No payment  
is made for termination due to gross misconduct.

6 Non-executive director remuneration

6.1 Remuneration Policy

Remuneration for Non-executive Directors is determined by reference to relevant external market data and takes 
into consideration the level of fees paid to directors of other Australian corporations of similar size and complexity 
to peter Warren. Remuneration for Non-executive Directors is subject to the aggregate annual fee pool limit of 
A$1 million in any financial year. this amount excludes, among other things, amounts payable to any executive Director 
under any executive services agreement with the Group or any special remuneration which the Board may grant to 
the Directors for special exertions or additional services performed by a Director for or at the request of the Company.

Fees for Non-executive Directors are fixed and are not linked to the financial performance of the Company. 
Non-executive Directors are not entitled to retirement benefits other than statutory superannuation payments, 
which are included in annual fees.

table 14 sets out the fee structure.
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table 14: Board fees

Position

Fee (inclusive 
of super-

annuation)

Chairman $200,000
Non-executive Directors $100,000
Audit and Risk Management Committee Chair $20,000
people and Remuneration Committee Chair $20,000

In addition to Board and Committee fees, non-executive directors are entitled to be reimbursed for all reasonable 
travel, accommodation and other expenses incurred in attending meetings of the Board, Committees or shareholders 
or while engaged on peter Warren business.

there are no share or performance-based plans for peter Warren Non-executive Directors. However, each Non-executive 
Director was remunerated for services in connection with the Ipo through the issue of shares worth $50,000, inclusive of 
superannuation. the table below illustrates the statutory remuneration for the NeDs.

table 15: NeD statutory remuneration

SHARE-BASED 
PAYMENT

Non-Executive 
Director Year Free

Super-
annuation

Non-Monetary 
Benefits Shares & Units

Total Statutory 
Remuneration

J Ingram 2021 $33,333 – – $50,000 $83,333
C West 2021 $18,265 $1,735 – $50,000 $70,000
N peiris 2021 $18,265 $1,735 – $50,000 $70,000
J pearce 2021 – – – – –
C Coates 2021 – – – – –

table 16: NeD shareholdings

Non-Executive Director
Held at 

1/7/20
Granted as 

compensation

Received 
on exercise 

of rights Other8 
Held at 
30/6/219 

J Ingram – 17,242 – 125,000 142,242
C West – 17,242 – – 17,242
N peiris – 17,242 – 34,483 51,725
J pearce – – – – n/a
C Coates – – – – n/a

7 Related party information

7.1 Transactions with other related parties

transactions entered into during the year with Directors of peter Warren are within normal employee, customer or 
supplier relationships on terms and conditions no more favourable than dealings in the same circumstances on an 
arm’s length basis. these include the transactions set out below which were disclosed in the prospectus and which  
for the purposes of Chapter 2e of the Corporations Act 2001, the Directors, other than paul Warren, consider to be  
on arm’s length terms:

8 other changes represent shares that were purchased or sold during the year.
9 J pearce and C Coates retired before 30 June 2021 and therefore shareholding balance on 30 June 2021 is not included.
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7.1.1 Warwick Farm Acquisition

on 30 April 2021, the Company completed the purchase of Warwick Farm from the Warren Family for $120 million 
(paid 80% in Shares at the offer price and 20% in cash using the proceeds of the offer) (Warwick Farm Acquisition). 
An independent valuation was undertaken by Cushman & Wakefield (Valuations) pty ltd to support the purchase price.

7.1.2 Related party transactions

During the financial year the Group entered into the following transactions related entities:

2021 
$

2020 
$

Revenue received from Director related entities:
Sale of goods 1,988,397 3,581,409
Rental payments 1,067,654 1,085,135
Shared service charges 6,675,598 6,554,993
Expenses paid/(payable) to Director related entities:
lease payments 8,948,356 8,898,857
purchase of goods 2,783,128 2,718,972
Interest payments 5,428,568 5,384,853

the Director related entities are entities owned by paul Warren.

7.1.3 peter Warren toyota

7.1.3.1 Sublease

the Company subleases part of Warwick Farm to WF Automotive pty limited (an entity controlled by the Warren 
Family) which carries on the peter Warren toyota business from these leased premises. As part of the Warwick Farm 
Acquisition, the Company has renewed this sublease for a term of 12 months commencing on the 1st May 2021  
with rolling options to renew for a further 12 months at a time, unless either party gives 9 months prior notice of 
non-renewal. In accordance with an independent market rent review undertaken by Jones lang laSalle Advisory 
Services pty ltd, the initial rent payable is $746,450 (excluding GSt) per annum, increasing if renewed by the greater  
of 3% and CpI per annum thereafter.

7.1.3.2 Toyota SSA

the Company also provides shared services to WF Automotive pty limited – for the benefit of peter Warren toyota 
and (for a limited sub-set of services only) pWA Regional Automotive pty limited under a shared services agreement 
(toyota SSA). the services provided under the toyota SSA include management and administrative support services 
such as corporate governance, It, payroll and vehicle-related management functions such as vehicle receiving, stock 
control, parts management and fleet sales. peter Warren Automotive does provide some commitments regarding the 
quality of the services provided and an indemnity under the toyota SSA, however such provisions cover subject matter 
that is typical to be addressed in this way for such an agreement. the toyota SSA contains limitations and exclusions 
of liability for the benefit of peter Warren Automotive that are typical for an agreement of this nature.

the toyota SSA expires on 31 March 2024. In addition to other customary termination rights, the toyota SSA may be 
terminated by either party for convenience on 6 months’ notice, but not so as to terminate before 1 January 2022.

Fees under the shared services agreement are charged on a cost-plus margin basis. the Company also provides 
certain other services to peter Warren toyota, which were previously undocumented, however going forward these  
will be provided under the toyota SSA.
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7.1.4 Warren Family office

7.1.4.1 Leaseback

As part of the Warwick Farm Acquisition, the Company has granted a leaseback of certain office space located at 
Warwick Farm to the Warren Family office.

the initial term of the lease commenced on 1 May 2021 and expires on 29 June 2026. the sublease has 2 options for 
a further term of 5 years each. In accordance with an independent market rent review undertaken by Jones lang 
laSalle Advisory Services pty ltd, the initial rent payable is $70,975 (excluding GSt) per annum, increasing by the 
greater of 3% and CpI per annum thereafter. the rent is reviewed to market at the commencement of the option terms.

7.1.4.2 Warren Family Office SSA

the Company provides some It related services to WF property Holdings pty limited (an entity controlled by 
the Warren Family) for the Warren Family office under a shared services agreement.

the shared services agreement is on arms’ length terms. the Company does provide some commitments regarding 
the quality of the services provided and an indemnity under the shared services agreement, however such provisions 
cover subject-matter that is typical to be addressed in this way for such an agreement. the shared services agreement 
contains limitations and exclusions of liability for the benefit of the Company that are typical for an agreement of 
this nature.

the shared services agreement is for a fixed term and expires on 29 June 2026. Fees under the shared services 
agreement are charged on a cost-plus margin basis. WF property Holdings pty limited paid $800 in FY21 for these 
services pursuant to that agreement.

7.1.5 Related party Balances

Receivables/(payables) with related parties

the following balances were outstanding at the end of the year:

2021 
$

2020 
$

Amounts receivable from Director related entities 1,277,124 538,938
Amounts payable to Director related entities (63,316) (510,000)

Loan notes payable to Director related entities

the following loans were outstanding at the end of the year:

2021 
$

2020 
$

loan notes payable to Director related entities – 65,829,478

the Director related entities are entities owned by paul Warren.

the loan notes payable were repaid during the financial year ended 30 June 2021 using funds raised from the Ipo.  
Refer to Note 35 for further information on movements during the year. 

End of the Remuneration report.
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Shares under performance rights

unissued ordinary shares of peter Warren Automotive Holdings limited under performance rights at the date of this 
report comprise 189,564 performance rights granted on 6 April 2021. the performance rights have a $nil exercise price.

No person entitled to exercise the performance rights had or has any right by virtue of the performance right to 
participate in any share issue of the Company or of any other body corporate.

Shares issued on the exercise of performance rights

there were no ordinary shares of peter Warren Automotive Holdings limited issued on the exercise of performance 
rights during the year ended 30 June 2021 and up to the date of this report.

Indemnity and insurance of officers

the Company has indemnified the Directors and executives of the Company for costs incurred, in their capacity 
as a Director or executive, for which they may be held personally liable, except where there is a lack of good faith.

During the financial year, the Company paid a premium in respect of a contract to insure the Directors and executives 
of the Company against a liability to the extent permitted by the Corporations Act 2001. the contract of insurance 
prohibits disclosure of the nature of the liability and the amount of the premium.

Indemnity and insurance of auditor

the Company has not, during or since the end of the financial year, indemnified or agreed to indemnify the auditor 
of the Company or any related entity against a liability incurred by the auditor.

During the financial year, the Company has not paid a premium in respect of a contract to insure the auditor of the 
Company or any related entity.

proceedings on behalf of the Company

No person has applied to the Court under section 237 of the Corporations Act 2001 for leave to bring proceedings on 
behalf of the Company, or to intervene in any proceedings to which the Company is a party for the purpose of taking 
responsibility on behalf of the Company for all or part of those proceedings.

Non-audit services

Details of the amounts paid or payable to the auditor for non-audit services provided during the financial year by the 
auditor are outlined in note 28 to the financial statements.

the Directors are satisfied that the provision of non-audit services during the financial year, by the auditor (or by 
another person or firm on the auditor’s behalf), is compatible with the general standard of independence for auditors 
imposed by the Corporations Act 2001.

the Directors are of the opinion that the services as disclosed in note 28 to the financial statements do not 
compromise the external auditor’s independence requirements of the Corporations Act 2001 for the following reasons:

• all non-audit services have been reviewed and approved to ensure that they do not impact the integrity and 
objectivity of the auditor; and

• none of the services undermine the general principles relating to auditor independence as set out in ApeS 110  
Code of Ethics for Professional Accountants (including Independence Standards) issued by the Accounting 
professional and ethical Standards Board, including reviewing or auditing the auditor’s own work, acting in  
a management or decision-making capacity for the Company, acting as advocate for the Company or jointly  
sharing economic risks and rewards.
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officers of the Company who are former partners of Deloitte touche tohmatsu

there are no other officers of the Company who are former partners of Deloitte touche tohmatsu.

Rounding of amounts

the Company is of a kind referred to in Corporations Instrument 2016/191, issued by the Australian Securities and 
Investments Commission, relating to ‘rounding-off’. Amounts in this report have been rounded off in accordance  
with that Corporations Instrument to the nearest thousand dollars, or in certain cases, the nearest dollar.

Auditor’s independence declaration

A copy of the auditor’s independence declaration as required under section 307C of the Corporations Act 2001 is  
set out immediately after this Directors’ report.

Auditor

Deloitte touche tohmatsu continues in office in accordance with section 327 of the Corporations Act 2001.

this report is made in accordance with a resolution of Directors, pursuant to section 298(2)(a) of the Corporations 
Act 2001.

on behalf of the Directors

John Ingram
Chair

27 August 2021
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Liability limited by a scheme approved under Professional Standards Legislation.  
 
Member of Deloitte Asia Pacific Limited and the Deloitte organisation. 

Deloitte Touche Tohmatsu 
ABN 74 490 121 060 
Grosvenor Place 
225 George Street 
Sydney, NSW, 2000 
Australia 
 
Phone: +61 2 9322 7000 
www.deloitte.com.au 
 

 

27 August 2021 

 

The Board of Directors 
Peter Warren Automotive Holdings Limited 
13 Hume Highway 
Warwick Farm 

NSW 2170 

 

Dear Directors 

Peter Warren Automotive Holdings Limited 
 

In accordance with section 307C of the Corporations Act 2001, I am pleased to provide the following 
declaration of independence to the directors of Peter Warren Automotive Holdings Limited. 
 
As lead audit partner for the audit of the financial report of Peter Warren Automotive Holdings Limited for 
the year ended 30 June 2021, I declare that to the best of my knowledge and belief, there have been no 
contraventions of: 
 

(i) the auditor independence requirements of the Corporations Act 2001 in relation to the audit; 
and 

(ii) any applicable code of professional conduct in relation to the audit.   
 

 

 

Yours sincerely 

 

DELOITTE TOUCHE TOHMATSU 

 

 

Tara Hill 
Partner 
Chartered Accountants 

 

Auditor’s independence declaration
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Consolidated statement of profit and 
loss and other comprehensive income
For the year ended 30 June 2021

CONSOLIDATED

Note
2021 

$’000

Restated  
2020 

$’000

Revenue 6 1,612,186 1,366,378
other income 7 22,735 24,934
Interest revenue calculated using the effective interest method 62 34

Expenses
Changes in inventories 8,385 (72,709)
Raw materials and consumables purchased (1,337,508) (1,083,047)
employee benefits expense (136,978) (121,445)
Depreciation and amortisation expense 8 (24,006) (24,981)
occupancy costs 8 (730) (833)
Advertising expense (6,653) (9,569)
Insurance expense (6,150) (4,127)
Motor vehicle expense (5,889) (6,118)
Ipo related expenses (4,740) –
Repayment of government grants 8 (13,315) –
other expenses (29,314) (27,958)
Finance costs 8 (23,288) (28,582)

Profit before income tax expense 54,797 11,977

Income tax expense 9 (17,251) (3,069)

Profit after income tax expense for the year attributable to the 
owners of Peter Warren Automotive Holdings Limited 37,546 8,908

Other comprehensive income

Items that will not be reclassified subsequently to profit or loss
Gain on the revaluation of land and buildings, net of tax 2,463 –

other comprehensive income for the year, net of tax 2,463 –

Total comprehensive income for the year attributable to the owners 
of Peter Warren Automotive Holdings Limited 40,009 8,908

Cents Cents

Basic earnings per share 36 50.15 16.19
Diluted earnings per share 36 50.12 16.19

Refer to note 4 for detailed information on Restatement of comparatives.

the above consolidated statement of profit or loss and other comprehensive income should be read in conjunction with the 
accompanying notes.
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Consolidated statement  
of financial position
As at 30 June 2021

CONSOLIDATED

Note
2021 

$’000
2020 

$’000

Assets
Current assets
Cash and cash equivalents 42,923 74,686
trade and other receivables 10 56,828 55,793 
Inventories 11 225,265 217,062
other assets 12 6,726 9,252 
total current assets 331,742 356,793

Non-current assets
other assets 12 153 354
property, plant and equipment 13 229,837 25,000
Right-of-use assets 14 118,120 204,196
Intangibles 15 145,621 140,121
Deferred tax 9 21,429 17,581
total non-current assets 515,160 387,252
Total assets 846,902 744,045

Liabilities
Current liabilities
trade and other payables 16 63,362 55,882
Contract liabilities 17 1,212 507
Borrowings 19 181,859 204,770
lease liabilities 18 11,549 14,482
Income tax 14,424 4,476
employee benefits 20 16,981 14,020
total current liabilities 289,387 294,137

Non-current liabilities
Contract liabilities 17 1,201 2,054
Borrowings 19 – 88,222
lease liabilities 18 135,145 228,048
employee benefits 20 1,462 1,278
provisions 21 250 330
total non-current liabilities 138,058 319,932
Total liabilities 427,445 614,069
Net assets 419,457 129,976

Equity
Issued capital 22 478,448 163,471
Reserves 23 (48,082) (51,307)
Retained profits/(accumulated losses) (10,909) 17,812
Total equity 419,457 129,976

the above consolidated statement of financial position should be read in conjunction with the accompanying notes.
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Consolidated statement  
of changes in equity
For the year ended 30 June 2021

Consolidated
Issued capital 

$’000
Reserves 

$’000

Retained 
profits 

$’000
Total equity 

$’000

Balance at 1 July 2019 163,471 (51,307) 8,904 121,068

profit after income tax expense for the year – – 8,908 8,908
other comprehensive income for the year, net of tax – – – –

total comprehensive income for the year – – 8,908 8,908

Balance at 30 June 2020 163,471 (51,307) 17,812 129,976

Consolidated
Issued capital 

$’000
Reserves 

$’000

Retained 
profits 

$’000
Total equity 

$’000

Balance at 1 July 2020 163,471 (51,307) 17,812 129,976

profit after income tax expense for the year – – 37,546 37,546
other comprehensive income for the year, net of tax – 2,463 – 2,463

total comprehensive income for the year – 2,463 37,546 40,009

Transactions with owners in their capacity as owners:
treasury capital (note 22) (1,250) – – (1,250)
Contributions of equity, net of transaction costs 
(note 22) 316,227 – – 316,227
Share-based payments (note 23) – 762 – 762
Dividends paid (note 24) – – (66,267) (66,267)

Balance at 30 June 2021 478,448 (48,082) (10,909) 419,457

the above consolidated statement of changes in equity should be read in conjunction with the accompanying notes.
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Consolidated statement  
of cash flows
For the year ended 30 June 2021

CONSOLIDATED

Note
2021 

$’000

Restated 
2020 

$’000

Cash flows from operating activities
Receipts from customers (inclusive of GSt) 1,783,855 1,525,000 
Receipts from government grants 15,060 14,151
payments to suppliers (inclusive of GSt) (1,696,665) (1,441,535)
Repayment of government grants 8 (13,315) –

88,935 97,616 
Interest received 62 34
Interest and other finance costs paid (23,288) (20,344)
Income taxes paid (9,161) (2,534)

Net cash from operating activities 35 56,548 74,772 

Cash flows from investing activities
payment for purchase of business, net of cash acquired 32 (5,541) –
payments for property, plant and equipment 13 (125,123) (4,262)
payments for security deposits (795) (247)
loan payment to key management personnel 30 (1,250) –
proceeds from disposal of investments 201 –
proceeds from disposal of property, plant and equipment 94 –

Net cash used in investing activities (132,414) (4,509)

Cash flows from financing activities
proceeds from issue of shares 22 227,440 –
Share issue transaction costs and Ipo expenses (14,999) –
Repayment of related party loans 35 (88,222) (8,454)
Dividends paid 24 (66,267) –
Repayment of lease liabilities 35 (13,849) (13,176)

Net cash from/(used in) financing activities 44,103 (21,630)

Net (decrease)/increase in cash and cash equivalents (31,763) 48,633
Cash and cash equivalents at the beginning of the financial year 74,686 26,053

Cash and cash equivalents at the end of the financial year 42,923 74,686

the above consolidated statement of cash flows should be read in conjunction with the accompanying notes.
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Notes to the consolidated  
financial statements
30 June 2021

Note 1. General information

the financial statements cover peter Warren Automotive Holdings limited as a Group consisting of peter Warren 
Automotive Holdings limited and the entities it controlled at the end of, or during, the year. the financial statements 
are presented in Australian dollars, which is peter Warren Automotive Holdings limited’s functional and 
presentation currency.

peter Warren Automotive Holdings limited is a listed public company limited by shares, incorporated and domiciled  
in Australia. Its registered office and principal place of business is:

13 Hume Highway
Warwick Farm
NSW 2170

A description of the nature of the Group’s operations and its principal activities are included in the Directors’ report, 
which is not part of the financial statements.

the financial statements were authorised for issue, in accordance with a resolution of Directors, on 27 August 2021.  
the Directors have the power to amend and reissue the financial statements.

Note 2. Significant accounting policies

the principal accounting policies adopted in the preparation of the financial statements are set out below. these policies 
have been consistently applied to all the years presented, unless otherwise stated.

New or amended Accounting Standards and Interpretations adopted

the Group has adopted all of the new or amended Accounting Standards and Interpretations issued by the Australian 
Accounting Standards Board (‘AASB’) that are mandatory for the current reporting period. the adoption of these 
Accounting Standards and Interpretations did not have any significant impact on the financial performance or position 
of the Group.

Any new or amended Accounting Standards or Interpretations that are not yet mandatory have not been early adopted.

Going concern

the Directors have, at the time of approving the financial statements, a reasonable expectation that the Group have 
adequate resources to continue in operational existence for the foreseeable future. thus they continue to adopt the 
going concern basis of accounting in preparing the financial statements.

Basis of preparation

these general purpose financial statements have been prepared in accordance with Australian Accounting Standards 
and Interpretations issued by the Australian Accounting Standards Board (‘AASB’) and the Corporations Act 2001,  
as appropriate for for-profit oriented entities. these financial statements also comply with International Financial 
Reporting Standards as issued by the International Accounting Standards Board (‘IASB’).

Historical cost convention

the financial statements have been prepared under the historical cost convention, except for land and buildings which 
are carried at fair value.

Critical accounting estimates

the preparation of the financial statements requires the use of certain critical accounting estimates. It also requires 
management to exercise its judgement in the process of applying the Group’s accounting policies. the areas involving 
a higher degree of judgement or complexity, or areas where assumptions and estimates are significant to the financial 
statements, are disclosed in note 3.

Parent entity information

In accordance with the Corporations Act 2001, these financial statements present the results of the Group only. 
Supplementary information about the parent entity is disclosed in note 31.
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Principles of consolidation

the consolidated financial statements incorporate the assets and liabilities of all subsidiaries of peter Warren 
Automotive Holdings limited (‘Company’ or ‘parent entity’) as at 30 June 2021 and the results of all subsidiaries  
for the year then ended. peter Warren Automotive Holdings limited and its subsidiaries together are referred  
to in these financial statements as the ‘Group’.

Subsidiaries are all those entities over which the Group has control. the Group controls an entity when the Group  
is exposed to, or has rights to, variable returns from its involvement with the entity and has the ability to affect  
those returns through its power to direct the activities of the entity. Subsidiaries are fully consolidated from the  
date on which control is transferred to the Group. they are de-consolidated from the date that control ceases.

Intercompany transactions, balances and unrealised gains on transactions between entities in the Group are 
eliminated. unrealised losses are also eliminated unless the transaction provides evidence of the impairment  
of the asset transferred. Accounting policies of subsidiaries have been changed where necessary to ensure 
consistency with the policies adopted by the Group.

the acquisition of subsidiaries is accounted for using the acquisition method of accounting. A change in ownership 
interest, without the loss of control, is accounted for as an equity transaction, where the difference between the 
consideration transferred and the book value of the share of the non-controlling interest acquired is recognised 
directly in equity attributable to the parent.

Where the Group loses control over a subsidiary, it derecognises the assets including goodwill, liabilities and  
non-controlling interest in the subsidiary together with any cumulative translation differences recognised in equity.  
the Group recognises the fair value of the consideration received and the fair value of any investment retained 
together with any gain or loss in profit or loss.

Operating segments

the Group has two operating segments being car retailing and property. operating segments are presented using  
the ‘management approach’, where the information presented is on the same basis as the internal reports provided to 
the Chief operating Decision Makers (‘CoDM’). the CoDM is responsible for the allocation of resources to operating 
segments and assessing their performance.

Revenue recognition

the Group recognises revenue as follows:

Revenue from contracts with customers

Revenue is measured at the fair value of consideration receivable, net of any discounts, rebates and incentives.  
It is recognised to the extent that the transfer of promised goods or services to a customer has been satisfied  
and the revenue can be reliably measured.

New, demonstrator and used vehicles

Revenue from the sale of motor vehicles is recognised when the obligation to transfer the goods to the customer  
has been satisfied, which is generally at the time of delivery of the vehicle.

parts and services

Revenue from the sale of parts is recognised at the point in time when the buyer obtains control of the goods, which  
is generally at the time of delivery of the goods. Revenue from the rendering of services to the customer is considered 
to have been satisfied over the period of time when the service has been undertaken.
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Aftermarket accessories and other revenue

Aftermarket accessories relate to items fitted at the dealership and include products such as window tinting,  
mud flaps and paint protection. Aftermarket accessories and other revenue are recognised at the point in time  
when they are delivered to the customer.

Finance and insurance revenue

Where the Group acts as an agent on behalf of a principal in relation to finance, insurance and similar products,  
the associated commission income is recognised within revenue in the period in which the related finance or insurance 
product is sold and receipt of payment can be assured.

Interest

Interest revenue is recognised as interest accrues using the effective interest method. this is a method of calculating 
the amortised cost of a financial asset and allocating the interest income over the relevant period using the effective 
interest rate, which is the rate that exactly discounts estimated future cash receipts through the expected life of the 
financial asset to the net carrying amount of the financial asset.

Rent revenue

the Group enters into lease agreements as a lessor with respect to some of its properties. leases for which the Group 
is a lessor are classified as finance or operating leases. Whenever the terms of the lease transfer substantially all the 
risks and rewards of ownership to the lessee, the contract is classified as a finance lease. All other leases are classified 
as operating leases.

All leases in which the Group is a lessor are classified as operating leases. Rent income from properties is recognised 
on a straight-line basis over the lease term. lease incentives granted are recognised as part of the rental income. 
Variable rentals are recognised as income in the period when earned.

other income

other income is recognised upon completion of the services being provided.

Commercial income and rebates

Volume related and vehicle specific bonuses and rebates are credited to the carrying value of inventory to which they 
relate. once the inventory is sold, the amount is then recognised in profit or loss as part of cost of sales. Bonuses and 
rebates are recognised when the right to receive the rebate is established or when it is assessed as probable that the 
required threshold linked to the rebate will be achieved.

Government grants

Grants from the government are recognised at their fair value when there is reasonable assurance that the grant will 
be received and the Group will comply with all attached conditions. Government grants relating to costs are deferred 
and recognised in profit or loss over the periods necessary to match them with the costs that they are intended 
to compensate.

JobKeeper support payments

JobKeeper represents JobKeeper support payments received from the Australian Government which are passed  
on to eligible employees during the Coronavirus (‘CoVID-19’) pandemic. Amounts received are recognised as income 
on a systematic basis over the period necessary to match it with the employee benefit expense for which it is intended 
to compensate.
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Government grants continued

Government wage subsidy received

Government wage subsidy received represents wage subsidy payments received from the Australian Government 
which are passed on to eligible employees to support employers and Group training organisations to take on  
new apprentices and trainees. Amounts received are recorded as other income over the periods in which the  
related employee benefits are recognised as an expense and in line with an assessment of the requirements  
of the programme.

Income tax

the income tax expense or benefit for the period is the tax payable on that period’s taxable income based on the 
applicable income tax rate for each jurisdiction, adjusted by the changes in deferred tax assets and liabilities 
attributable to temporary differences, unused tax losses and the adjustment recognised for prior periods, 
where applicable.

Deferred tax assets and liabilities are recognised for temporary differences at the tax rates expected to be applied 
when the assets are recovered or liabilities are settled, based on those tax rates that are enacted or substantively 
enacted, except for:

• When the deferred income tax asset or liability arises from the initial recognition of goodwill or an asset or liability 
in a transaction that is not a business combination and that, at the time of the transaction, affects neither the 
accounting nor taxable profits; or

• When the taxable temporary difference is associated with interests in subsidiaries, associates or joint ventures,  
and the timing of the reversal can be controlled and it is probable that the temporary difference will not reverse  
in the foreseeable future.

Deferred tax assets are recognised for deductible temporary differences and unused tax losses only if it is probable 
that future taxable amounts will be available to utilise those temporary differences and losses.

the carrying amount of recognised and unrecognised deferred tax assets are reviewed at each reporting date. 
Deferred tax assets recognised are reduced to the extent that it is no longer probable that future taxable profits will 
be available for the carrying amount to be recovered. previously unrecognised deferred tax assets are recognised to 
the extent that it is probable that there are future taxable profits available to recover the asset.

Deferred tax assets and liabilities are offset only where there is a legally enforceable right to offset current tax assets 
against current tax liabilities and deferred tax assets against deferred tax liabilities; and they relate to the same 
taxable authority on either the same taxable entity or different taxable entities which intend to settle simultaneously.

Current and deferred tax are recognised in profit or loss, except when they relate to items that are recognised in other 
comprehensive income or directly in equity, in which case, the current and deferred tax are also recognised in other 
comprehensive income or directly in equity respectively. Where current tax or deferred tax arises from the initial 
accounting for a business combination, the tax effect is included in the accounting for the business combination.

peter Warren Automotive Holdings limited (the ‘head entity’) and its wholly-owned Australian subsidiaries have 
formed an income tax consolidated group under the tax consolidation regime. the head entity and each subsidiary in 
the tax consolidated group continue to account for their own current and deferred tax amounts. the tax consolidated 
group has applied the ‘separate taxpayer within group’ approach in determining the appropriate amount of taxes to 
allocate to members of the tax consolidated group.

In addition to its own current and deferred tax amounts, the head entity also recognises the current tax liabilities  
(or assets) and the deferred tax assets arising from unused tax losses and unused tax credits assumed from each 
subsidiary in the tax consolidated group.
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Current and non-current classification

Assets and liabilities are presented in the statement of financial position based on current and non-current classification.

An asset is classified as current when: it is either expected to be realised or intended to be sold or consumed in the 
Group’s normal operating cycle; it is held primarily for the purpose of trading; it is expected to be realised within 
12 months after the reporting period; or the asset is cash or cash equivalent unless restricted from being exchanged or 
used to settle a liability for at least 12 months after the reporting period. All other assets are classified as non-current.

A liability is classified as current when: it is either expected to be settled in the Group’s normal operating cycle; it is 
held primarily for the purpose of trading; it is due to be settled within 12 months after the reporting period; or there is 
no unconditional right to defer the settlement of the liability for at least 12 months after the reporting period. All other 
liabilities are classified as non-current.

Deferred tax assets and liabilities are always classified as non-current.

Cash and cash equivalents

Cash and cash equivalents includes cash on hand, deposits held at call with financial institutions, other short-term, 
highly liquid investments with original maturities of three months or less that are readily convertible to known amounts 
of cash and which are subject to an insignificant risk of changes in value.

Trade and other receivables

trade receivables are initially recognised at fair value and subsequently measured at amortised cost using the 
effective interest method, less any allowance for expected credit losses. trade receivables are generally due for 
settlement within 30 days.

the Group has applied the simplified approach to measuring expected credit losses, which uses a lifetime expected 
loss allowance. to measure the expected credit losses, trade receivables have been grouped based on days overdue.

other receivables are recognised at amortised cost which is inclusive of any allowance for expected credit losses.

Inventories

New and demonstrator vehicles

New and demonstrator vehicles are stated at the lower of cost and net realisable value. Costs are assigned on the 
basis of specific identification. Net realisable value represents the estimated selling price less all estimated costs 
necessary to make the sale.

used vehicles

used vehicles are stated at the lower of cost and net realisable value on a unit-by-unit basis. Cost comprises of 
purchase and delivery costs, net of rebates and discounts received or receivable. Net realisable value is the estimated 
selling price in the ordinary course of business less the estimated costs necessary to make the sale. Net realisable 
value represents the estimated selling price less all estimated costs necessary to make the sale.

Spare parts and accessories

Spare parts and accessories are stated at the lower of cost and net realisable value. Costs are assigned to individual 
items based on weighted average cost. Cost comprises of purchase and delivery costs, net of rebates and discounts 
received or receivable.

other inventory

other inventory includes service work in progress and are stated at cost. Costs are assigned to individual customers 
on the basis of specific identification. Cost includes labour incurred to date and consumables utilised during 
the service.
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Investments and other financial assets

Investments and other financial assets are initially measured at fair value. transaction costs are included as part of  
the initial measurement, except for financial assets at fair value through profit or loss. Such assets are subsequently 
measured at either amortised cost or fair value depending on their classification. Classification is determined based  
on both the business model within which such assets are held and the contractual cash flow characteristics of the 
financial asset unless an accounting mismatch is being avoided.

Financial assets are derecognised when the rights to receive cash flows have expired or have been transferred and the 
Group has transferred substantially all the risks and rewards of ownership. When there is no reasonable expectation of 
recovering part or all of a financial asset, its carrying value is written off.

Financial assets at amortised cost

A financial asset is measured at amortised cost only if both of the following conditions are met: (i) it is held within  
a business model whose objective is to hold assets in order to collect contractual cash flows; and (ii) the contractual 
terms of the financial asset represent contractual cash flows that are solely payments of principal and interest.

Impairment of financial assets

the Group recognises a loss allowance for expected credit losses on financial assets which are either measured at 
amortised cost or fair value through other comprehensive income. the measurement of the loss allowance depends 
upon the Group’s assessment at the end of each reporting period as to whether the financial instrument’s credit risk 
has increased significantly since initial recognition, based on reasonable and supportable information that is available, 
without undue cost or effort to obtain.

Where there has not been a significant increase in exposure to credit risk since initial recognition, a 12-month expected 
credit loss allowance is estimated. this represents a portion of the asset’s lifetime expected credit losses that is 
attributable to a default event that is possible within the next 12 months. Where a financial asset has become credit 
impaired or where it is determined that credit risk has increased significantly, the loss allowance is based on the asset’s 
lifetime expected credit losses. the amount of expected credit loss recognised is measured on the basis of the 
probability weighted present value of anticipated cash shortfalls over the life of the instrument discounted at the 
original effective interest rate.

Property, plant and equipment

land and buildings are shown at fair value, based on an annual assessment by the Directors supported by periodic 
valuations by external independent valuers, less subsequent depreciation for buildings. Revaluations are made with 
sufficient regularity to ensure that the carrying amount does not differ materially from that which would be determined 
using fair value at the end of the reporting period. Any accumulated depreciation at the date of revaluation is eliminated 
against the gross carrying amount of the asset and the net amount is restated to the revalued amount of the asset. 
Increases in the carrying amounts arising on revaluation of land and buildings are credited in other comprehensive 
income through to the revaluation surplus reserve in equity. Any revaluation decrements are initially taken in other 
comprehensive income through to the revaluation surplus reserve to the extent of any previous revaluation surplus  
of the same asset. thereafter the decrements are taken to profit or loss.

plant and equipment is stated at historical cost less accumulated depreciation and impairment. Historical cost includes 
expenditure that is directly attributable to the acquisition of the items.

Depreciation is calculated on a straight-line basis to write off the net cost of each item of property, plant and 
equipment (excluding land) over their expected useful lives as follows:

Buildings 40 years
plant and equipment 3-15 years
Motor Vehicle 4-8 years 
leasehold improvements over the shorter of the useful life or term of lease

the residual values, useful lives and depreciation methods are reviewed, and adjusted if appropriate, at each 
reporting date.

48 | ANNuAl RepoRt 2021



leasehold improvements are depreciated over the unexpired period of the lease or the estimated useful life of the 
assets, whichever is shorter.

An item of property, plant and equipment is derecognised upon disposal or when there is no future economic benefit 
to the Group. Gains and losses between the carrying amount and the disposal proceeds are taken to profit or loss.  
Any revaluation surplus reserve relating to the item disposed of is transferred directly to retained profits.

Right-of-use assets

A right-of-use asset is recognised at the commencement date of a lease. the right-of-use asset is measured at cost, 
which comprises the initial amount of the lease liability, adjusted for, as applicable, any lease payments made at or 
before the commencement date net of any lease incentives received, any initial direct costs incurred, and, except 
where included in the cost of inventories, an estimate of costs expected to be incurred for dismantling and removing 
the underlying asset, and restoring the site or asset.

Right-of-use assets are depreciated on a straight-line basis over the unexpired period of the lease or the estimated 
useful life of the asset, whichever is the shorter. Where the Group expects to obtain ownership of the leased asset  
at the end of the lease term, the depreciation is over its estimated useful life. Right-of-use assets are subject to 
impairment or adjusted for any remeasurement of lease liabilities.

the Group has elected not to recognise a right-of-use asset and corresponding lease liability for short-term leases 
with terms of 12 months or less and leases of low-value assets. lease payments on these assets are expensed to profit 
or loss as incurred.

When a right-of-use asset is acquired by the lessee before the end of the lease term, the carrying value of the  
right-of-use asset and the corresponding lease liability are derecognised. Any difference between the carrying  
value of the right-of-use asset and the lease liability is recognised in property, plant and equipment.

Intangible assets

Intangible assets acquired as part of a business combination, other than goodwill, are initially measured at their fair 
value at the date of the acquisition. Intangible assets acquired separately are initially recognised at cost. Indefinite life 
intangible assets are not amortised and are subsequently measured at cost less any impairment. Finite life intangible 
assets are subsequently measured at cost less amortisation and any impairment. the gains or losses recognised in 
profit or loss arising from the derecognition of intangible assets are measured as the difference between net disposal 
proceeds and the carrying amount of the intangible asset. the method and useful lives of finite life intangible assets 
are reviewed annually. Changes in the expected pattern of consumption or useful life are accounted for prospectively 
by changing the amortisation method or period.

Goodwill

Goodwill arises on the acquisition of a business. Goodwill is not amortised. Instead, goodwill is tested annually for 
impairment, or more frequently if events or changes in circumstances indicate that it might be impaired, and is carried 
at cost less accumulated impairment losses. Impairment losses on goodwill are taken to profit or loss and are not 
subsequently reversed.

Business combinations

the acquisition method of accounting is used to account for business combinations regardless of whether equity 
instruments or other assets are acquired.

the consideration transferred is the sum of the acquisition date fair values of the assets transferred, equity instruments 
issued or liabilities incurred by the acquirer to former owners of the acquiree and the amount of any non-controlling 
interest in the acquiree. For each business combination, the non-controlling interest in the acquiree is measured at 
either fair value or at the proportionate share of the acquiree’s identifiable net assets. All acquisition costs are expensed 
as incurred to profit or loss.

on the acquisition of a business, the Group assesses the financial assets acquired and liabilities assumed for 
appropriate classification and designation in accordance with the contractual terms, economic conditions, the  
Group’s operating or accounting policies and other pertinent conditions in existence at the acquisition-date.
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Business combinations continued

Where the business combination is achieved in stages, the Group remeasures its previously held equity interest in the 
acquiree at the acquisition-date fair value and the difference between the fair value and the previous carrying amount 
is recognised in profit or loss.

Contingent consideration to be transferred by the acquirer is recognised at the acquisition date fair value. Subsequent 
changes in the fair value of the contingent consideration classified as an asset or liability is recognised in profit or loss. 
Contingent consideration classified as equity is not remeasured and its subsequent settlement is accounted for 
within equity.

the difference between the acquisition date fair value of assets acquired, liabilities assumed and any non-controlling 
interest in the acquiree and the fair value of the consideration transferred and the fair value of any pre-existing 
investment in the acquiree is recognised as goodwill. If the consideration transferred and the pre-existing fair value is 
less than the fair value of the identifiable net assets acquired, being a bargain purchase to the acquirer, the difference 
is recognised as a gain directly in profit or loss by the acquirer on the acquisition date, but only after a reassessment  
of the identification and measurement of the net assets acquired, the non-controlling interest in the acquiree, if any, 
the consideration transferred and the acquirer’s previously held equity interest in the acquirer.

Business combinations are initially accounted for on a provisional basis. the acquirer retrospectively adjusts  
the provisional amounts recognised and also recognises additional assets or liabilities during the measurement  
period, based on new information obtained about the facts and circumstances that existed at the acquisition date.  
the measurement period ends on either the earlier of (i) 12 months from the date of the acquisition or (ii) when  
the acquirer receives all the information possible to determine fair value.

Impairment of non-financial assets

Goodwill and other intangible assets that have an indefinite useful life are not subject to amortisation and are tested 
annually for impairment, or more frequently if events or changes in circumstances indicate that they might be 
impaired. other non-financial assets are reviewed for impairment whenever events or changes in circumstances 
indicate that the carrying amount may not be recoverable. An impairment loss is recognised for the amount by  
which the asset’s carrying amount exceeds its recoverable amount.

Recoverable amount is the higher of an asset’s fair value less costs of disposal and value-in-use. the value-in-use is 
the present value of the estimated future cash flows relating to the asset using a pre-tax discount rate specific to the 
asset or cash-generating unit to which the asset belongs. Assets that do not have independent cash flows are grouped 
together to form a cash-generating unit.

Trade and other payables

these amounts represent liabilities for goods and services provided to the Group prior to the end of the financial year 
and which are unpaid. Due to their short-term nature they are measured at amortised cost and are not discounted.  
the amounts are unsecured and are usually paid within 30 days of recognition.

Contract liabilities

Contract liabilities represent the Group’s obligation to transfer goods or services to a customer and are recognised 
when a customer pays consideration, or when the Group recognises a receivable to reflect its unconditional right to 
consideration (whichever is earlier) before the Group has transferred the goods or services to the customer.
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Borrowings

loans and borrowings are initially recognised at the fair value of the consideration received, net of transaction costs. 
they are subsequently measured at amortised cost using the effective interest method.

loans and borrowings are removed from the statement of financial position when the obligation specified in the 
contract is discharged, cancelled or expired. the difference between the carrying amount and any consideration  
paid is recognised in profit or loss.

Floor plan finance

Dealerships utilise bailment or floor plan finance to fund floor plan inventory for both new and used vehicles. New 
vehicles are purchased from the original equipment manufacturer (‘oeM’) using financing provided by a floor plan 
finance provider, who retains title in the vehicle until it is subsequently sold by the dealership to the end customer. 
Vehicles financed under bailment plans are recognised as inventory with the corresponding floorplan liability owing  
to the finance providers. Floor plan finance allows dealers to hold a wide range of inventory while minimising the 
required capital investment.

the facilities are available for drawdown by specified dealerships on a vehicle-by-vehicle basis, with repayment as it 
relates to an individual vehicle required immediately after the vehicle is sold. the total financed amount, can sometimes 
be higher than the inventory levels due to a time lag in the delivery of a vehicle to the dealership or on settlement 
following a sale. the facilities are secured by general security agreements, which are granted over all of the assets  
of various entities within the Group. Interest is charged under the facilities at a margin above the base swap rate 
adopted by each floor plan finance provider.

the Group also utilises charge plan facilities in relation to financing used vehicle inventory. unlike new vehicle floor 
plan facilities above, used facilities are not on a vehicle-by-vehicle basis, instead secured over the overarching used 
inventory on a rolling basis.

Lease liabilities

A lease liability is recognised at the commencement date of a lease. the lease liability is initially recognised at the 
present value of the lease payments to be made over the term of the lease, discounted using the interest rate implicit 
in the lease or, if that rate cannot be readily determined, the Group’s incremental borrowing rate. lease payments 
comprise of fixed payments less any lease incentives receivable, variable lease payments that depend on an index  
or a rate, amounts expected to be paid under residual value guarantees, exercise price of a purchase option when  
the exercise of the option is reasonably certain to occur, and any anticipated termination penalties. the variable  
lease payments that do not depend on an index or a rate are expensed in the period in which they are incurred.

lease liabilities are measured at amortised cost using the effective interest method. the carrying amounts are 
remeasured if there is a change in the following: future lease payments arising from a change in an index or a rate 
used; residual guarantee; lease term; certainty of a purchase option and termination penalties. When a lease liability  
is remeasured, an adjustment is made to the corresponding right-of-use asset, or to profit or loss if the carrying 
amount of the right-of-use asset is fully written down.

Finance costs

Finance costs attributable to qualifying assets are capitalised as part of the asset. All other finance costs are expensed 
in the period in which they are incurred.

Provisions

provisions are recognised when the Group has a present (legal or constructive) obligation as a result of a past event,  
it is probable the Group will be required to settle the obligation, and a reliable estimate can be made of the amount  
of the obligation. the amount recognised as a provision is the best estimate of the consideration required to settle  
the present obligation at the reporting date, taking into account the risks and uncertainties surrounding the obligation. 
If the time value of money is material, provisions are discounted using a current pre-tax rate specific to the liability.  
the increase in the provision resulting from the passage of time is recognised as a finance cost.
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Employee benefits

Short-term employee benefits

liabilities for wages and salaries, including non-monetary benefits, annual leave and long service leave expected to 
be settled wholly within 12 months of the reporting date are measured at the amounts expected to be paid when the 
liabilities are settled.

other long-term employee benefits

the liability for annual leave and long service leave not expected to be settled within 12 months of the reporting  
date are measured at the present value of expected future payments to be made in respect of services provided by 
employees up to the reporting date. Consideration is given to expected future wage and salary levels, experience  
of employee departures and periods of service. expected future payments are discounted using market yields at the 
reporting date on high quality corporate bonds with terms to maturity and currency that match, as closely as possible, 
the estimated future cash outflows.

Defined contribution superannuation expense

Contributions to defined contribution superannuation plans are expensed in the period in which they are incurred.

Share-based payments

equity-settled and cash-settled share-based compensation benefits are provided to employees.

equity-settled transactions are awards of shares, or options over shares, that are provided to employees in exchange 
for the rendering of services. Cash-settled transactions are awards of cash for the exchange of services, where the 
amount of cash is determined by reference to the share price.

the cost of equity-settled transactions are measured at fair value on grant date. Fair value is independently 
determined using either the Binomial or Black-Scholes option pricing model that takes into account the exercise  
price, the term of the option, the impact of dilution, the share price at grant date and expected price volatility of the 
underlying share, the expected dividend yield and the risk free interest rate for the term of the option, together with 
non-vesting conditions that do not determine whether the Group receives the services that entitle the employees  
to receive payment. No account is taken of any other vesting conditions.

the cost of equity-settled transactions are recognised as an expense with a corresponding increase in equity over the 
vesting period. the cumulative charge to profit or loss is calculated based on the grant date fair value of the award, 
the best estimate of the number of awards that are likely to vest and the expired portion of the vesting period.  
the amount recognised in profit or loss for the period is the cumulative amount calculated at each reporting date  
less amounts already recognised in previous periods.

the cost of cash-settled transactions is initially, and at each reporting date until vested, determined by applying either 
the Binomial or Black-Scholes option pricing model, taking into consideration the terms and conditions on which the 
award was granted. the cumulative charge to profit or loss until settlement of the liability is calculated as follows:

• during the vesting period, the liability at each reporting date is the fair value of the award at that date multiplied  
by the expired portion of the vesting period; and

• from the end of the vesting period until settlement of the award, the liability is the full fair value of the liability  
at the reporting date.

All changes in the liability are recognised in profit or loss. the ultimate cost of cash-settled transactions is the cash 
paid to settle the liability.

Market conditions are taken into consideration in determining fair value. therefore any awards subject to market 
conditions are considered to vest irrespective of whether or not that market condition has been met, provided all  
other conditions are satisfied.

If equity-settled awards are modified, as a minimum an expense is recognised as if the modification has not been 
made. An additional expense is recognised, over the remaining vesting period, for any modification that increases  
the total fair value of the share-based compensation benefit as at the date of modification.
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If equity-settled awards are cancelled, it is treated as if it has vested on the date of cancellation, and any remaining 
expense is recognised immediately. If a new replacement award is substituted for the cancelled award, the cancelled 
and new award is treated as if they were a modification.

Fair value measurement

When an asset or liability, financial or non-financial, is measured at fair value for recognition or disclosure purposes, 
the fair value is based on the price that would be received to sell an asset or paid to transfer a liability in an orderly 
transaction between market participants at the measurement date; and assumes that the transaction will take place 
either: in the principal market; or in the absence of a principal market, in the most advantageous market.

Fair value is measured using the assumptions that market participants would use when pricing the asset or liability, 
assuming they act in their economic best interests. For non-financial assets, the fair value measurement is based on its 
highest and best use. Valuation techniques that are appropriate in the circumstances and for which sufficient data are 
available to measure fair value, are used, maximising the use of relevant observable inputs and minimising the use of 
unobservable inputs.

Assets and liabilities measured at fair value are classified into three levels, using a fair value hierarchy that reflects the 
significance of the inputs used in making the measurements. Classifications are reviewed at each reporting date and 
transfers between levels are determined based on a reassessment of the lowest level of input that is significant to  
the fair value measurement.

For recurring and non-recurring fair value measurements, external valuers may be used when internal expertise is 
either not available or when the valuation is deemed to be significant. external valuers are selected based on market 
knowledge and reputation. Where there is a significant change in fair value of an asset or liability from one period to 
another, an analysis is undertaken, which includes a verification of the major inputs applied in the latest valuation and 
a comparison, where applicable, with external sources of data.

Issued capital

ordinary shares are classified as equity.

Incremental costs directly attributable to the issue of new shares or options are shown in equity as a deduction, 
 net of tax, from the proceeds.

Treasury capital

treasury capital represent the shares of the parent company peter Warren Automotive Holdings limited that are held 
in treasury. own shares are recorded at cost and deducted from equity.

Dividends

Dividends are recognised when declared during the financial year and no longer at the discretion of the Company.

Earnings per share

Basic earnings per share

Basic earnings per share is calculated by dividing the profit attributable to the owners of peter Warren Automotive 
Holdings limited, excluding any costs of servicing equity other than ordinary shares, by the weighted average number 
of ordinary shares outstanding during the financial year, adjusted for bonus elements in ordinary shares issued during 
the financial year.

Diluted earnings per share

Diluted earnings per share adjusts the figures used in the determination of basic earnings per share to take into 
account the after-income tax effect of interest and other financing costs associated with dilutive potential ordinary 
shares and the weighted average number of shares assumed to have been issued for no consideration in relation to 
dilutive potential ordinary shares.
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Note 2. Significant accounting policies continued

Earnings per share continued

Diluted earnings per share continued

the weighted average number of ordinary shares outstanding during the year and for the comparative period have 
been adjusted for the capital reorganisation that occurred during the financial year. the weighted average number  
of ordinary shares for the current and comparative period are calculated based on the number of shares that would 
have been in existence had the capital reorganisation occurred at the beginning of the comparative period.

Goods and Services Tax (‘GST’) and other similar taxes

Revenues, expenses and assets are recognised net of the amount of associated GSt, unless the GSt incurred is not 
recoverable from the tax authority. In this case it is recognised as part of the cost of the acquisition of the asset or  
as part of the expense.

Receivables and payables are stated inclusive of the amount of GSt receivable or payable. the net amount of GSt 
recoverable from, or payable to, the tax authority is included in other receivables or other payables in the statement  
of financial position.

Cash flows are presented on a gross basis. the GSt components of cash flows arising from investing or financing 
activities which are recoverable from, or payable to the tax authority, are presented as operating cash flows.

Commitments and contingencies are disclosed net of the amount of GSt recoverable from, or payable to,  
the tax authority.

Rounding of amounts

the Company is of a kind referred to in Corporations Instrument 2016/191, issued by the Australian Securities and 
Investments Commission, relating to ‘rounding-off’. Amounts in this report have been rounded off in accordance  
with that Corporations Instrument to the nearest thousand dollars, or in certain cases, the nearest dollar.

Comparatives

Comparatives in profit or loss have been restated to align with the current year presentation. there has been no 
material effect on the net result for the year. A reconciliation of the restatement is disclosed in note 4.

Certain comparatives in the statement of financial position have been reclassified to align with the current year 
presentation. this includes the transfer of $2,273,000 from ‘other payables and accruals’ to ‘employee benefits’ and the 
transfer of $1,627,000 from ‘cash and cash equivalents’ and ‘$7,625,000’ from trade and other receivables to ‘other assets’.

New Accounting Standards and Interpretations not yet mandatory or early adopted

At the date of authorisation of these financial statements, the Group has not applied the following new and revised 
Australian Accounting Standards and Interpretations that have been issued but are not yet effective:

AASB 17 Insurance Contracts
AASB 10 and AASB 128 
(amendments)

Sale or Contribution of Assets between an Investor and its Associate  
or Joint Venture

Amendments to AASB 101 Classification of liabilities as Current or Non-current
Amendments to AASB 3 Reference to the Conceptual Framework
Amendments to AASB 16 property, plant and equipment – proceeds before Intended use
Amendments to AASB 137 onerous Contracts – Cost of Fulfilling a Contract
Annual Improvements to IFRS 
Standards 2018-2020 Cycle

Amendments to AASB 1 First-time Adoption of International Financial Reporting 
Standards, AASB 9 Financial Instruments, AASB 16 Leases, and AASB 141 Agriculture

the directors do not expect that the adoption of the Standards listed above will have a material impact on the financial 
statements of the Group in future periods.
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Note 3. Critical accounting judgements, estimates and assumptions

the preparation of the financial statements requires management to make judgements, estimates and assumptions 
that affect the reported amounts in the financial statements. Management continually evaluates its judgements  
and estimates in relation to assets, liabilities, contingent liabilities, revenue and expenses. Management bases its 
judgements, estimates and assumptions on historical experience and on other various factors, including expectations 
of future events, management believes to be reasonable under the circumstances. the resulting accounting 
judgements and estimates will seldom equal the related actual results. the judgements, estimates and assumptions 
that have a significant risk of causing a material adjustment to the carrying amounts of assets and liabilities (refer to 
the respective notes) within the next financial year are discussed below.

Coronavirus (COVID-19) pandemic

Judgement has been exercised in considering the impacts that the Coronavirus (CoVID-19) pandemic has had, or  
may have, on the Group based on known information. this consideration extends to the nature of the products and 
services offered, customers, supply chain, staffing and geographic regions in which the Group operates. other than  
as addressed in specific notes, there does not currently appear to be either any significant impact upon the financial 
statements or any significant uncertainties with respect to events or conditions which may impact the Group 
unfavourably as at the reporting date or subsequently as a result of the Coronavirus (CoVID-19) pandemic.

Revaluation of property, plant and equipment

the Group carries its land and buildings at fair value. Increases in the carrying amounts arising on revaluation  
of land and buildings are credited in other comprehensive income through to the revaluation surplus reserve  
in equity. Any revaluation decrements are initially taken in other comprehensive income through to the revaluation 
surplus reserve to the extent of any previous revaluation surplus of the same asset. thereafter the decrements  
are taken to profit or loss. the Directors determine the fair value by reference to transactions involving properties  
of a similar nature, location and condition. the land and building were acquired on 30 April 2021 and an independent 
valuation was undertaken to support the purchase price paid for these properties. the key assumptions used to 
determine the fair value of the properties and sensitivity analyses are provided in note 26.

Provision for impairment of inventories

the provision for impairment of inventories assessment requires a degree of estimation and judgement. the level 
of the provision is assessed by taking into account the recent sales experience, the ageing of inventories and other 
factors that affect inventory obsolescence.

Goodwill and other indefinite life intangible assets

the Group tests annually, or more frequently if events or changes in circumstances indicate impairment, whether 
goodwill and other indefinite life intangible assets have suffered any impairment, in accordance with the accounting 
policy stated in note 2. the recoverable amounts of cash-generating units have been determined based on value-in-
use calculations. these calculations require the use of assumptions, including estimated discount rates based on the 
current cost of capital and growth rates of the estimated future cash flows.

Lease term

the lease term is a significant component in the measurement of both the right-of-use asset and lease liability. 
Judgement is exercised in determining whether there is reasonable certainty that an option to extend the lease or 
purchase the underlying asset will be exercised, or an option to terminate the lease will not be exercised, when 
ascertaining the periods to be included in the lease term. In determining the lease term, all facts and circumstances 
that create an economical incentive to exercise an extension option, or not to exercise a termination option, are 
considered at the lease commencement date. Factors considered may include the importance of the asset to the 
Group’s operations; comparison of terms and conditions to prevailing market rates; incurrence of significant penalties; 
existence of significant leasehold improvements; and the costs and disruption to replace the asset. the Group 
reassesses whether it is reasonably certain to exercise an extension option, or not exercise a termination option, 
if there is a significant event or significant change in circumstances.
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Note 4. Restatement of comparatives

Reclassifications

the following reclassifications to the statement of profit or loss and other comprehensive income (and related notes) 
have been made to provide more relevant information to the users of the financial statements. 

the more significant changes relate to:

• Reclassification of warranty revenue which results in an increase in revenue and decrease in raw materials and 
consumables purchased.

• Shared services income and expense that were disclosed net in the prior year. the reclassification results in an 
increase in other income and increase in employee benefits expense.

• elimination of inter-department charges that resulted in a decrease in revenue, increase in other income and 
decrease in employee benefits expense.

Additionally, revenue in the previous year has been separated into revenue from contracts with customers and  
other income ($18,530,000); and raw material and consumables purchased has been separated into raw materials  
and consumables purchased and changes in inventory ($72,709,000) to align with the current year presentation.

these reclassifications have no impact on retained earnings or net profit and are included below. 

Statement of profit or loss and other comprehensive income

CONSOLIDATED

2020 
$’000 

Reported
$’000 

Adjustment

2020 
$’000 

Restated

Revenue 1,347,326 19,052 1,366,378
other income – 24,934 24,934
Interest revenue calculated using the effective interest method 194 (160) 34
Expenses
Changes in inventories – (72,709) (72,709)
Raw materials and consumables purchased (1,104,859) 21,812 (1,083,047)
employee benefits expense (125,161) 3,716 (121,445)
Depreciation and amortisation expense (25,073) 92 (24,981)
loss on disposal of assets (149) 149 –
Advertising expense (9,466) (103) (9,569)
Insurance expense (3,893) (234) (4,127)
Motor vehicle expense (9,389) 3,271 (6,118)
occupancy costs – (833) (833)
other expenses (28,967) 1,009 (27,958)
Finance costs (28,586) 4 (28,582)
Profit before income tax expense 11,977 – 11,977
Income tax expense (3,069) – (3,069)
Profit after income tax expense for the year attributable to the 
owners of Peter Warren Automotive Holdings Limited 8,908 – 8,908
other comprehensive income for the year, net of tax – – –
Total comprehensive income for the year attributable to the 
owners of Peter Warren Automotive Holdings Limited 8,908 – 8,908

Cents 
Reported

Cents 
Adjustment

Cents 
Restated

Basic earnings per share 16.19 – 16.19
Diluted earnings per share 16.19 – 16.19
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Note 5. operating segments

Identification of reportable operating segments

the Group has two operating segments being Vehicle Retailing and property. operating segments are presented 
using the ‘management approach’, where the information presented is on the same basis as the internal reports 
provided to the Chief operating Decision Makers (‘CoDM’). the CoDM is responsible for the allocation of resources  
to operating segments and assessing their performance. there is no aggregation of operating segments.

the CoDM reviews eBItDA (earnings before interest, tax, depreciation, amortisation and unallocated expenses 
comprising Ipo expenses, public company expenses and key management personnel expenses as disclosed in note 27). 
the accounting policies adopted for internal reporting to the CoDM are consistent with those adopted in the 
financial statements.

the information reported to the CoDM is on a monthly basis.

Types of products and services

the principal products and services of each of these operating segments are as follows:

Vehicle Retailing Within the Vehicle Retailing segment, the Group offers a diversified range of automotive products 
and services, including new vehicles, used vehicles, vehicle maintenance and repair services, vehicle 
parts, extended service contracts, vehicle protection products and other aftermarket products.  
they also facilitate financing for vehicle purchases through third-party sources. New vehicles,  
vehicle parts, and maintenance services are predominantly supplied in accordance with franchise 
agreements with manufacturers.

property Within the property segment, the Group holds commercial properties principally for use as premises 
for its motor dealership operations. the property segment charges the Vehicle Retailing segment 
commercial rentals for owned properties occupied by that segment. the property segment reports 
property assets at fair value, based on an annual assessment by the Directors supported by periodic 
valuations by external independent valuers. Revaluation increments arising from fair value adjustments 
are credited in other comprehensive income through to the revaluation reserve in equity. the CoDM 
excludes revaluation increments arising from fair value adjustments when assessing the overall 
returns generated by this segment to the Group.

Intersegment transactions

Intersegment transactions were made at market rates. the Vehicle Retailing operating segment leases premises from 
the property operating segment. Intersegment transactions are eliminated on consolidation.

All leasing transactions with parties external to the Group are included in the Vehicle Retailing operating segment.

Intersegment receivables, payables and loans

Intersegment loans are initially recognised at the consideration received. Intersegment loans receivable and loans 
payable that earn or incur non-market interest are not adjusted to fair value based on market interest rates. 
Intersegment loans are eliminated on consolidation.

Major customers

there are no major customers for the Group representing more than 10% of the Group’s revenue.

Geographic Information

the Group operates in one principal geographic location, being Australia.
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Note 5. operating segments continued

Consolidated – 2021

Vehicle 
Retailing 

$’000
Property 

$’000

Inter-segment 
eliminations 

$’000
Total 
$’000

Revenue
Sales to external customers 1,612,186 – – 1,612,186
Total Revenue 1,612,186 – – 1,612,186
other income 8,290 2,693 (1,563) 9,420
Segment result
eBItDA 112,354 2,478 (1,563) 113,269
Depreciation and amortisation (23,636) (370) – (24,006)
Segment profit 88,718 2,108 (1,563) 89,263
Interest revenue 62 – – 62
Finance costs (23,288) – – (23,288)
Profit/(loss) before income tax expense 
and unallocated expenses 65,492 2,108 (1,563) 66,037
unallocated expenses (11,240)
Profit before tax 54,797
Assets
Segment assets 644,662 202,240 – 846,902
Liabilities
Segment liabilities 427,296 149 – 427,445
Net assets 217,366 202,091 – 419,457

Consolidated – 2020

Vehicle 
Retailing 

$’000
Property 

$’000

Inter-segment 
eliminations 

$’000
Total 
$’000

Revenue
Sales to external customers 1,366,378 – – 1,366,378
other revenue – – – –
Total Revenue 1,366,378 – – 1,366,378
other income 24,934 – – 24,934
Segment result
eBItDA 67,414 – – 67,414
Depreciation and amortisation (24,981) – – (24,981)
Segment profit 42,433 – – 42,433
Interest revenue 34 – – 34
Finance costs (28,582) – – (28,582)
Profit/(loss) before income tax expense 
and unallocated expenses 13,885 – – 13,885
unallocated expenses (1,908)
Profit before tax 11,977
Assets
Segment assets 744,045 – – 744,045
Liabilities
Segment liabilities 614,069 – – 614,069
Net assets 129,976 – – 129,976
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Note 6. Revenue

CONSOLIDATED

2021 
$’000

2020 
$’000

New and demonstrator vehicles 1,095,273 887,443
used vehicles 239,058 221,529
parts revenue 153,638 145,402
Service revenue 73,512 70,481
Finance and insurance 27,821 22,709
Aftermarket accessories 22,884 18,814
Revenue 1,612,186 1,366,378

Disaggregation of revenue from contracts with customers

All revenue is generated in Australia and revenue is recognised at a point in time, except for service revenue which  
is recognised over time.

Note 7. other income

CONSOLIDATED

2021 
$’000

2020 
$’000

Government grants 15,060 14,151
Rent revenue* 1,130 1,085
Rent concessions – 1,775
other income* 6,545 7,923
other income 22,735 24,934

* Includes amounts received from related parties. Refer to note 30.

Government grants

Government grants received during the financial year ended 30 June 2021 represent grants received from the 
Government comprising of JobKeeper support payments and the Boosting Apprenticeship Commencements  
wage subsidy. Government grants received during the year comprise the following:

CONSOLIDATED

2021 
$’000

2020 
$’000

CoVID-19 JobKeeper grant received (a) 13,850 14,151
Boosting Apprenticeship subsidy received (b) 1,210 –
Government grants received 15,060 14,151

(a) CoVID-19 JobKeeper grant received

During the Coronavirus (‘CoVID-19’) pandemic, the Group received JobKeeper funding from the Australian Government 
during the financial year ended 30 June 2021 totalling $13,850,000 (2020: $14,151,000). the Board of Directors agreed  
in February 2021 to repay to the Australian Government JobKeeper funds that the Group received during the financial 
year ended 30 June 2021, other than those passed through to employees as a top-up to earnings as prescribed by 
legislation which came to $535,000. As the payment is voluntary, the repayment has been included as an expense  
in the profit or loss (refer to note 8).
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Government grants continued

(b) Boosting Apprenticeship subsidy received

the Australian Government has announced the Boosting Apprenticeship Commencements wage subsidy to support 
employers and Group training organisations to take on new apprentices and trainees. the Group received this wage 
subsidy during the financial year ended 30 June 2021 to the sum of $1,210,000.

Note 8. expenses

CONSOLIDATED

2021 
$’000

2020 
$’000

profit before income tax includes the following specific expenses:
Finance costs
Interest and finance charges paid/payable on loans from related parties 7,263 8,238
Interest and finance charges paid/payable on lease liabilities 12,022 13,490
Bailment interest 4,003 6,854
Finance costs 23,288 28,582
Depreciation
Buildings 281 –
leasehold improvements 130 84
plant and equipment 4,494 4,653
Motor vehicles 259 293
Right-of-use assets 18,842 19,951
total depreciation 24,006 24,981
Lease related expenses
Interest expense on lease liabilities 12,022 13,490
expense relating to short-term leases 730 987

2021 
$’000

2020 
$’000

Employee benefits expenses:
Share-based payments 962 –
Defined contribution superannuation expense 11,501 10,045
employee benefits expense excluding share-based payments and superannuation (a) 124,515 111,400

136,978 121,445
Repayment of government grants
Repayment of CoVID-19 JobKeeper grant (b) 13,315 –

(a) employee benefits expenses excludes service labour amounting to $21,595,000 (2020: $22,366,000) which is included in raw 
materials and consumables purchases.

(b) Repayment of JobKeeper represents voluntary repayment of government grants. Refer to note 7 for further details.
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Note 9. Income tax

CONSOLIDATED

2021 
$’000

2020 
$’000

Income tax expense
Current tax 18,976 6,329
Deferred tax – origination and reversal of temporary differences (2,325) (2,712)
Adjustment recognised for prior periods 600 (548)
Aggregate income tax expense 17,251 3,069
Deferred tax included in income tax expense comprises:
Increase in deferred tax assets (2,325) (2,712)
Numerical reconciliation of income tax expense and tax at the statutory rate
profit before income tax expense 54,797 11,977
tax at the statutory tax rate of 30% 16,439 3,593
tax effect amounts which are not deductible/(taxable) in calculating taxable income:

other non-assessable and non-deductible items 20 24
Share-based payments 229 –
other items (37) –

16,651 3,617
Adjustment recognised for prior periods 600 (548)
Income tax expense 17,251 3,069
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Note 9. Income tax continued

CONSOLIDATED

2021 
$’000

2020 
$’000

Deferred tax asset
Deferred tax asset comprises temporary differences attributable to:
Amounts recognised in profit or loss:

tax losses 134 4
Allowance for expected credit losses 128 117
property, plant and equipment 3,600 (51)
employee benefits 5,720 3,235
Contract liabilities 553 544
trade and other receivables 220 614
trade and other payables 139 40
Work in progress (73) (42)
leases 8,587 11,487
provision for inventories (4) 352
other items 1,044 1,281

20,048 17,581
Amounts recognised in equity:

transaction costs on share issue 2,437 –
Revaluation of property, plant and equipment (1,056) –

1,381 –
Deferred tax asset 21,429 17,581
Movements:
opening balance 17,581 14,777
Credited to profit or loss 2,325 2,712
Credited to equity 1,991 –
Adjustments recognised for prior periods (468) 92
Closing balance 21,429 17,581

Note 10. trade and other receivables

CONSOLIDATED

2021 
$’000

2020 
$’000

Current assets
trade receivables 57,232 56,178 
less: Allowance for expected credit losses (425) (412)

56,807 55,766 
Amount receivable from related parties 21 27

56,828 55,793 

Refer to note 30 for further details on amount receivable from related parties.
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Allowance for expected credit losses

the Group has recognised a loss of $149,000 (2020: $286,000) in profit or loss in respect of the expected credit losses 
for the year ended 30 June 2021.

the ageing of the receivables and allowance for expected credit losses provided for above are as follows:

EXPECTED CREDIT LOSS RATE CARRYING AMOUNT
ALLOWANCE FOR EXPECTED 

CREDIT LOSSES

Consolidated
2021 

%
2020 

%
2021 

$’000
2020 

$’000
2021 

$’000
2020 

$’000

Not overdue – – 50,006 52,033 – –
1 – 30 days overdue 5.8% 10.1% 5,950 3,045 343 306
31 – 60 days overdue 6.8% 8.8% 793 461 54 40
61 – 90 days overdue 6.1% 10.7% 427 259 26 28
over 90 days overdue 3.2% 9.9% 56 380 2 38

57,232 56,178 425 412

Movements in the allowance for expected credit losses are as follows:

CONSOLIDATED

2021 
$’000

2020 
$’000

opening balance 412 244
Additional provisions recognised 149 286
Receivables written off during the year as uncollectable (136) (118)
Closing balance 425 412

Note 11. Inventories

CONSOLIDATED

2021 
$’000

2020 
$’000

Current assets
New and demonstrator vehicles 162,267 172,229
less: provision for impairment (5,206) (5,822)

157,061 166,407
used vehicles 47,410 30,930
less: provision for impairment (3,107) (2,466)

44,303 28,464
Spare parts and accessories 23,900 22,168
less: provision for impairment (910) (753)

22,990 21,415
Work in progress 229 132
petrols, oils and grease 682 644

225,265 217,062
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Note 12. other assets

CONSOLIDATED

2021 
$’000

2020 
$’000

Current assets
prepayments 4,304 7,625
term deposits 2,422 1,627

6,726 9,252
Non-current assets
other financial assets 153 354

6,879 9,606 

Term deposits

term deposits are maintained as security over the Group’s bank guarantees (note 29).

Note 13. property, plant and equipment

CONSOLIDATED

2021 
$’000

2020 
$’000

Non-current assets
land – at fair value 144,989 –
Buildings – at fair value 51,742 –
leasehold improvements – at cost 4,050 485
less: Accumulated depreciation (705) (447)

3,345 38
plant and equipment – at cost 70,291 61,176
less: Accumulated depreciation (41,818) (37,485)

28,473 23,691
Motor vehicles – at cost 2,125 1,946
less: Accumulated depreciation (837) (675)

1,288 1,271
229,837 25,000

64 | ANNuAl RepoRt 2021



Reconciliations

Reconciliations of the written down values at the beginning and end of the current and previous financial year are set 
out below:

Consolidated
Land 
$’000

Buildings 
$’000

Leasehold 
improv ements 

$’000

Plant and 
equipment 

$’000
Motor vehicles 

$’000
Total 
$’000

Balance at 1 July 2019 – – 51 24,767 1,192 26,010
Additions – – 1,063 3,834 597 5,494
Disposals – – (992) (257) (225) (1,474)
Depreciation expense – – (84) (4,653) (293) (5,030)
Balance at 30 June 2020 – – 38 23,691 1,271 25,000
Additions 156,223 52,023 3,437 9,082 358 221,123
Additions through 
business combinations 
(note 32) – – – 194 22 216
Derecognition of prior 
leases balances* (11,237) (3,516) – – – (14,753)
Revaluation increments 3 3,516 – – – 3,519
Disposals – – – – (104) (104)
Depreciation expense – (281) (130) (4,494) (259) (5,164)
Balance at 30 June 2021 144,989 51,742 3,345 28,473 1,288 229,837

* land and buildings acquired during the financial year were previously leased by the Group. $14,753,000 represents the  
difference between the carrying value of the right-of-use asset and the lease liability immediately prior to the acquisition.  
When a right-of-use asset is acquired by the lessee before the end of the lease term, the carrying value of the right-of-use  
asset and the corresponding lease liability are derecognised. Any difference between the carrying value of the right-of-use  
asset and the lease liability is recognised in property, plant and equipment.

the carrying value of plant and equipment at 30 June 2021 includes capital works in progress of $267,000. 

Additions to property, plant and equipment of $221,123,000 were settled with $125,123,000 in cash and $96,000,000 by way 
of ordinary shares issued. 

If land and buildings were carried at cost, the carrying value of land and buildings at 30 June 2021 would be $141,470,000 
and $51,742,000 respectively.

Valuations of land and buildings

land and buildings are shown at fair value, based on annual assessment by the Directors supported by periodic 
valuations by external independent valuers, less subsequent depreciation for buildings. the land and buildings include 
the Warwick Farm and Southport properties which were acquired on 30 April 2021. An independent valuation was 
undertaken to support the purchase price paid for these properties. the Directors do not believe that there has been 
a material movement in fair value since the acquisition date.

Refer to note 26 for further information on fair value measurement.
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Note 14. Right-of-use assets

CONSOLIDATED

2021 
$’000

2020 
$’000

Non-current assets
land and buildings – right-of-use 178,059 273,670
less: Accumulated depreciation (59,939) (69,474)

118,120 204,196

the Group leases buildings for its dealerships under agreements of between 1 to 10 years plus in the majority of 
instances options to extend generally representing 2×5 year periods. the group have generally included at least 
1×5 year option period in the initial lease term given the assessed reasonable certainty of renewal, as a result of 
significant capital expenditure incurred and general scarcity of appropriate alternative locations.

Reconciliations

Reconciliations of the written down values at the beginning and end of the current and previous financial year are set 
out below:

Consolidated

Land and 
buildings – 

right-of-use 
$’000

Balance at 1 July 2019 224,147
Depreciation expense (19,951)
Balance at 30 June 2020 204,196
Additions 1,112
Disposals* (68,346)
Depreciation expense (18,842)
Balance at 30 June 2021 118,120

* Disposals represent the cessation of leases with respect to the Warwick Farm and Southport properties. these properties were 
previously leased from a related party. During the financial year ended 30 June 2021, these properties were purchased by pWA 
properties pty ltd, a subsidiary within the Group, with funds raised from the Ipo.

For other AASB 16 lease related disclosures refer to the following:

• Refer note 8 for details of interest on lease liabilities and other lease payments;

• Refer note 18 for lease liabilities at the end of the reporting period;

• Refer note 25 for undiscounted future lease commitments; and

• Refer consolidated statement of cash flows for repayment of lease liabilities.
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Note 15. Intangibles

CONSOLIDATED

2021 
$’000

2020 
$’000

Non-current assets
Goodwill – at cost 145,621 140,121

Reconciliations

Reconciliations of the carrying values at the beginning and end of the current and previous financial year are set  
out below:

Consolidated
Goodwill 

$’000

Balance at 1 July 2019 140,121
Balance at 30 June 2020 140,121
Additions through business combinations (note 32) 5,500
Balance at 30 June 2021 145,621

For the purposes of impairment testing goodwill is allocated to each of the Groups cash-generating units (CGu),  
or groups of CGus, that are expected to benefit from the synergies of the combinations. At 30 June 2021, all the 
goodwill relates to the vehicle retailing segment.

the recoverable amount of the Group’s goodwill has been determined by value-in-use calculations (‘VIu’). the VIu 
assessment is conducted using a discounted cash flow (‘DCF’) methodology requiring the Directors to estimate the 
future cash flows expected to arise from the CGu’s and then applying a discount rate to calculate the present value.

Impairment testing

Impairment testing of the Group’s goodwill was performed as at 30 June 2021. As part of this process, management 
reviewed the recoverability of the carrying value of intangible assets and concluded no impairment existed, nor any 
reasonable possible change in assumptions would lead to impairment.

Key assumptions

the discounted cash flow model adopted by the Directors utilises cashflow forecasts derived from the 30 June 2022 
(‘FY 22’) financial budget approved by the Board. Management have then applied revenue growth rates across the  
five year period of between -1% and +2.8% (2020: Revenue growth between +2.4% and +6.9%) and applied thereafter a 
terminal growth of 2.0% (2020: 2.25%). the FY22 budget reflects the current market dynamics and the cost reduction 
initiatives undertaken in response to CoVID-19. the FY22 budget did not include the possible financial impact of  
any possible CoVID-19 related lockdowns in the projections. However, subsequent to 30 June 2021 lockdowns  
have occurred in New South Wales and Queensland. Whilst the duration and extent of the CoVID-19 lockdowns  
are unknown, management have determined that any reasonably possible financial effect would not result in an 
impairment. Management will continue to monitor the impact of CoVID-19 on the value-in-use model moving forward. 
the forecast growth rates and terminal growth rate are based on historical performance, current business strategies 
and future operating conditions. the terminal growth rate is not deemed to exceed the long-term average growth  
rate for the industry. A post tax discount rate of 8.5% (2020: 9.88%) was applied to the cashflows, incorporating the 
impact of the new lease standard (AASB 16) on the Group’s cost of debt.
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Note 15. Intangibles continued

Sensitivity

As disclosed in note 3, the directors have made judgements and estimates in respect of impairment testing of 
goodwill. Should these judgements and estimates not occur the resulting goodwill carrying amount may decrease. 
the Group has performed sensitivity analysis of the reasonably possible changes in the assumptions in the model 
and under each of the scenarios, no impairment was identified. the sensitivities are as follows:

Assumption element Assumption used Sensitivity applied
Decrease in 

headroom

Discount rate 8.5% (post tax) 9.0% (post tax) up from 8.5% ($32,900,000)
terminal Growth rate 2.0% 1.5% ($26,500,000)

under each of these independent scenarios, no impairment was identified. Management believes that other reasonable 
changes in the key assumptions on which the recoverable amount of motor vehicle retailing’s goodwill is based would 
not cause the CGu’s carrying amount to exceed its recoverable amount.

Note 16. trade and other payables

CONSOLIDATED

2021 
$’000

2020 
$’000

Current liabilities
trade payables 14,758 13,617
Customer deposits 20,657 16,703
GSt payable 3,125 5,151
other payables and accruals 24,822 20,411

63,362 55,882

Refer to note 25 for further information on financial instruments.

Note 17. Contract liabilities

CONSOLIDATED

2021 
$’000

2020 
$’000

Current liabilities
Deferred service obligations 1,212 507
Non-current liabilities
Deferred service obligations 1,201 2,054

2,413 2,561
Reconciliation
Reconciliation of the written down values at the beginning and end of the current 
and previous financial year are set out below:
opening balance 2,561 2,215
payments received in advance 474 424
transfer to revenue – performance obligations satisfied in current periods (622) (78)
Closing balance 2,413 2,561

Deferred service obligations represent the Group’s obligation to transfer goods or services to a customer and are 
recognised when a customer pays consideration, or when the Group recognises a receivable to reflect its unconditional 
right to consideration (whichever is earlier) before the Group has transferred the goods or services to the customer.
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Unsatisfied performance obligations

the aggregate amount of the transaction price allocated to the performance obligations that are unsatisfied at the 
end of the reporting period was $2,413,000 as at 30 June 2021 ($2,561,000 as at 30 June 2020) and is expected to be 
recognised as revenue in future periods as follows:

CONSOLIDATED

2021 
$’000

2020 
$’000

Within 12 months 1,212 503
12 to 24 months 338 734
24 to 36 months 220 349
Greater than 36 months 643 975

2,413 2,561

Note 18. lease liabilities

CONSOLIDATED

2021 
$’000

2020 
$’000

Current liabilities
Hire purchase – 45
lease liabilities – building premises 11,549 14,437

11,549 14,482
Non-current liabilities
lease liabilities – building premises 135,145 228,048

146,694 242,530

the average incremental borrowing rate on building premises is 5.38% (30 June 2020: 5.41%).

the hire purchase liability is secured over the related hire purchase assets.

Refer to note 25 for further information on financial instruments.

Note 19. Borrowings

CONSOLIDATED

2021 
$’000

2020 
$’000

Current liabilities
Bailment finance and equitable mortgage agreement (‘eMA’) vehicle funding 181,859 204,770
Non-current liabilities
loans from related parties – 88,222

181,859 292,992

Refer to note 25 for further information on financial instruments.
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Note 19. Borrowings continued

Loans from related parties

the loan notes payable to related parties were repaid during the financial year ended 30 June 2021 using funds raised 
from the Ipo.

Total secured liabilities

the total secured liabilities are as follows:

CONSOLIDATED

2021 
$’000

2020 
$’000

Bailment finance and eMA vehicle funding 181,859 204,770

Assets pledged as security

Bailment finance and eMA vehicle funding are secured over the related assets (predominantly vehicle inventory)  
held by the Group. Refer to the ‘borrowings’ accounting policy disclosed in note 2 for further details.

Financing arrangements

unrestricted access was available at the reporting date to the following lines of credit:

CONSOLIDATED

2021 
$’000

2020 
$’000

total facilities
Bailment finance and eMA vehicle funding 360,550 367,050
loans from related parties – 88,222

360,550 455,272
used at the reporting date

Bailment finance and eMA vehicle funding 181,859 204,770
loans from related parties – 88,222

181,859 292,992
unused at the reporting date

Bailment finance and eMA vehicle funding 178,691 162,280
loans from related parties – –

178,691 162,280

Note 20. employee benefits

CONSOLIDATED

2021 
$’000

2020 
$’000

Current liabilities
employee benefits 16,981 14,020
Non-current liabilities
employee benefits 1,462 1,278

18,443 15,298
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Note 21. provisions

CONSOLIDATED

2021 
$’000

2020 
$’000

Non-current liabilities
lease make good 250 330

Lease make-good

the provision represents the present value of the estimated costs to make good the premises leased by the Group  
at the end of the respective lease terms.

Movements in provisions

Movements in each class of provision during the current financial year, other than employee benefits, are set out below:

Consolidated – 2021

Lease-make 
good 
$’000

Carrying amount at the start of the year 330
Additional provisions recognised 10
unused amounts reversed (90)
Carrying amount at the end of the year 250

Note 22. Issued capital

CONSOLIDATED

2021 
Shares

2020 
Shares

2021 
$’000

2020 
$’000

ordinary shares – fully paid (a) 166,555,203 115,181,818 479,698 34,550
treasury share capital (b) (250,000) – (1,250) –
Class B shares – fully paid (c) – 113,191,336 – 86,109
Class C shares – fully paid (d) – 46,747,944 – 42,811
Class D share – fully paid (e) – 1 – 1

166,305,203 275,121,099 478,448 163,471

(a) Movements in ordinary share capital

Details Date Shares Issue price $’000

Balance 1 July 2019 115,181,818 34,550
Balance 30 June 2020 115,181,818 34,550
Share consolidation (5:1) 28 March 2021 (92,145,454) –
Conversion of Class B Shares to ordinary Shares 27 April 2021 22,638,267 86,109
Conversion of Class C Shares to ordinary Shares 27 April 2021 9,349,589 42,812
Shares issued at Ipo 27 April 2021 78,427,535 $2.90 227,440
Shares issued as part consideration for 
property acquisition

30 April 2021
33,103,448 $2.90 96,000

Share issue costs (net of taxation) – – (7,213)
Balance 30 June 2021 166,555,203 479,698
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Note 22. Issued capital continued

(a) Movements in ordinary share capital continued

ordinary shares

ordinary shares entitle the holder to participate in any dividends declared and any proceeds attributable to 
shareholders should the Company be wound up, in proportions that consider both the number of shares held and the 
extent to which those shares are paid up. the fully paid ordinary shares have no par value and the Company does not 
have a limited amount of authorised capital.

on a show of hands every member present at a meeting in person or by proxy shall have one vote and upon a poll each 
share shall have one vote.

on 27 April 2021, all Class B and Class C shares were converted to ordinary shares on a 1:1 basis.

(b) Movements in Treasury shares

Details Date Shares Issue price $’000

Balance 1 July 2019 – –
Balance 30 June 2020 – –
treasury capital 5 November 2020 1,250,000 1,250
Share consolidation (5:1) 28 March 2021 (1,000,000) –
treasury capital 27 April 2021 68,966 $2.90 200
Issue of planned shares 27 April 2021 (68,966) $2.90 (200)
Balance 30 June 2021 250,000 1,250

treasury shares

treasury capital includes secured share capital associated with a limited recourse loan made during the period to a key 
management personnel (refer to note 30 for further details of this transaction) and shares issued through the employee 
share trust.

(c) Movements in Class B shares

Details Date Shares $’000

Balance 1 July 2019 113,191,336 86,109
Balance 30 June 2020 113,191,336 86,109
Share consolidation (5:1) 28 March 2021 (90,553,069) –
Converted to ordinary shares on Ipo 27 April 2021 (22,638,267) (86,109)
Balance 30 June 2021 – –

Class B shares

Class B shares entitle the holder to participate in dividends and the proceeds on the winding up of the Company  
in proportion to the number of and amounts paid on the shares held.

Class B shares do not have any voting rights.

on 27 April 2021, all Class B shares were converted to ordinary shares on a 1:1 basis.
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(d) Movements in Class C shares

Details Date Shares $’000

Balance 1 July 2019 46,747,944 42,811
Balance 30 June 2020 46,747,944 42,811
Conversion of Class D Shares to C class Shares 23 March 2021 1 1
Share consolidation (5:1) 28 March 2021 (37,398,356) –
Converted to ordinary shares on Ipo 27 April 2021 (9,349,589) (42,812)
Balance 30 June 2021 – –

Class C shares

Class C shares entitle the holder to participate in dividends and the proceeds on the winding up of the Company  
in proportion to the number of and amounts paid on the shares held.

Class C shares do not have any voting rights.

on 27 April 2021, all Class C shares were converted to ordinary shares on a 1:1 basis.

(e) Movements in Class D shares

Details Date Shares $’000

Balance 1 July 2019 1 1
Balance 30 June 2020 1 1
Converted to C class shares 23 March 2021 (1) (1)
Balance 30 June 2021 – –

Class D share

Class D share neither entitles the holder to participate in dividends (other than special dividends) nor the proceeds  
on the winding up of the Company in proportion to the number of and amounts paid on the shares held.

Class D share does not have any voting rights.

on 23 March 2021, all Class D shares were converted to Class C shares on a 1:1 basis.

Share buy-back

there is no current on-market share buy-back.

Capital risk management

the Group’s objectives when managing capital is to safeguard its ability to continue as a going concern, so that it can 
provide returns for shareholders and benefits for other stakeholders and to maintain an optimum capital structure to 
reduce the cost of capital.

Capital is regarded as total equity, as recognised in the statement of financial position, plus net debt. Net debt is 
calculated as total borrowings less cash and cash equivalents.

In order to maintain or adjust the capital structure, the Group may adjust the amount of dividends paid to shareholders, 
return capital to shareholders, issue new shares or sell assets to reduce debt.

the Group would look to raise capital when an opportunity to invest in a business or company was seen as value 
adding relative to the current Company’s share price at the time of the investment. the Group is not actively pursuing 
additional investments in the short term as it continues to integrate and grow its existing businesses in order to 
maximise synergies.

the Group is subject to certain financing arrangements covenants and meeting these is given priority in all capital risk 
management decisions. there have been no events of default on the financing arrangements during the financial year.
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Note 23. Reserves

CONSOLIDATED

2021 
$’000

2020 
$’000

Asset revaluation reserve (a) 2,463 –
Share-based payments reserve (b) 762 –
Business reorganisation reserve (c) (34,277) (34,277)
transactions with exited non-controlling interests (d) (17,030) (17,030)

(48,082) (51,307)

(a) Asset revaluation reserve

the reserve is used to recognise increments and decrements in the fair value of land and buildings.

(b) Share-based payments reserve

the reserve is used to recognise the value of equity benefits provided to employees and Directors as part of their 
remuneration, and other parties as part of their compensation for services.

(c) Business reorganisation reserve

the business reorganisation reserve arises from a past corporate reorganisation when peter Warren Automotive 
Holdings limited, formerly known as pWA Holdings one pty limited became the parent entity on 18 November 2016.

(d) Transactions with exited non-controlling interests

the transactions with non-controlling interests reserve relates to the past acquisition of remaining minority interests  
in Wp Automotive pty limited on 31 March 2017 (49% interest acquired) and Sydney North Shore Automotive pty ltd  
on the 1 July 2017 (49% interest acquired).

Movements in reserves

Movements in each class of reserve during the current and previous financial year are set out below:

Consolidated

Asset 
revaluation 

reserve 
$’000

Share-based 
payments 

reserve 
$’000

Business 
reorganisation 

reserve 
$’000

Transactions 
with exited 

non-controlling 
interests 

$’000
Total 
$’000

Balance at 1 July 2019 – – (34,277) (17,030) (51,307)
Balance at 30 June 2020 – – (34,277) (17,030) (51,307)
Revaluation – gross 3,519 – – – 3,519
Deferred tax (1,056) – – – (1,056)
Share-based payments – 962 – – 962
Issue planned shares – (200) – – (200)
Balance at 30 June 2021 2,463 762 (34,277) (17,030) (48,082)
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Note 24. Dividends

Dividends

Dividends paid during the financial year were as follows:

CONSOLIDATED

2021 
$’000

2020 
$’000

Dividend paid on ordinary shares during the year ended 30 June 2021 27,213 –
Dividend paid on B class shares during the year ended 30 June 2021 26,742 –
Dividend paid on C class shares during the year ended 30 June 2021 11,045 –
Dividend paid on D class shares during the year ended 30 June 2021 1,267 –

66,267 –

As outlined in the prospectus, the Directors have determined that the Company will not pay a further dividend in 
respect of the financial year ended 30 June 2021.

Franking credits

CONSOLIDATED

2021 
$’000

2020 
$’000

Franking credits available for subsequent financial years based on a tax rate of 30% 31,339 40,648

the above amounts represent the balance of the franking account as at the end of the financial year, adjusted for:

• franking credits that will arise from the payment of the amount of the provision for income tax at the reporting date;

• franking debits that will arise from the payment of dividends recognised as a liability at the reporting date; and

• franking credits that will arise from the receipt of dividends recognised as receivables at the reporting date.

Note 25. Financial instruments

Financial risk management

the Group’s activities expose it to a variety of financial risks: market risk (which included foreign currency risk, price 
risk and interest rate risk), credit risk and liquidity risk. the Group’s overall risk management program focuses on the 
unpredictability of financial markets and seeks to minimise potential adverse effects on the financial performance of 
the Group. the Group uses difference methods to measure different types of risk to which it is exposed. these methods 
include sensitivity analysis in the case of interest rate risk and ageing for credit risk.

Risk management is carried out by senior finance executives (‘finance’) under policies approved by the Board of 
Directors (‘the Board’). these policies include identification and analysis of the risk exposure of the Group and 
appropriate procedures, controls and risk limits. Finance identifies, evaluates and hedges financial risks within  
the Group’s operating units.

Market risk

Foreign currency risk

the Group does not ordinarily undertake any transactions denominated foreign currency and is not exposed to any 
significant foreign currency risk.

price risk

the Group is not exposed to any significant price risk.
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Market risk continued

Interest rate risk

the Group’s main interest rate risk arises from Bailment finance and eMA vehicle funding which is maintained a 
variable rates. Borrowings obtained at variable rates expose the Group to interest rate risk.

As at the reporting date, the Group had the following variable rate borrowings outstanding:

2021 2020

Consolidated

Weighted 
average 

interest rate 
%

Balance 
$’000

Weighted 
average 

interest rate 
%

Balance 
$’000

Bailment finance and eMA vehicle funding 2.50% 181,859 3.08% 204,770
Net exposure to cash flow interest rate risk 181,859 204,770

An analysis by remaining contractual maturities in shown in ‘liquidity and interest rate risk management’ below.

For the Group the borrowings outstanding, totalling $181,859,000 (2020: $204,770,000), are principal and interest 
payment loans. An official increase/decrease in interest rates of 1 basis point (2020: 1 basis point) would have an 
adverse/favourable effect on profit before tax of $18,186 (2020: $20,477) per annum.

Credit risk

Credit risk refers to the risk that a counterparty will default on its contractual obligations resulting in financial loss  
to the Group. the Group has a strict code of credit, including obtaining agency credit information, confirming 
references and setting appropriate credit limits. the Group obtains guarantees where appropriate to mitigate credit 
risk. the maximum exposure to credit risk at the reporting date to recognised financial assets is the carrying amount, 
net of any provisions for impairment of those assets, as disclosed in the statement of financial position and notes to 
the financial statements. the Group does not hold any collateral.

the Group has adopted a lifetime expected credit loss allowance in estimating expected credit losses to trade 
receivables through the use of a provisions matrix using fixed rates of credit loss provisioning. these provisions are 
considered representative across all customers of the Group based on recent sales experience, historical collection 
rates and forward-looking information that is available.

Generally, trade receivables are written off when there is no reasonable expectation of recovery. Indicators of this 
include the failure of a debtor to engage in a repayment plan, no active enforcement activity and a failure to make 
contractual payments for a period greater than 1 year.

Liquidity risk

Vigilant liquidity risk management requires the Group to maintain sufficient liquid assets (mainly cash and cash 
equivalents) and available borrowing facilities to be able to pay debts as and when they become due and payable.

the Group manages liquidity risk by maintaining adequate cash reserves and available borrowing facilities by 
continuously monitoring actual and forecast cash flows and matching the maturity profiles of financial assets and 
liabilities. the Group utilises bailment finance facilities to fund floor plan inventory for both new and used vehicle. 
Information on available facilities can be found in note 19 and a description of the bailment finance facilities can be 
found in note 2.
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Remaining contractual maturities

the following tables detail the Group’s remaining contractual maturity for its financial instrument liabilities. the tables 
have been drawn up based on the undiscounted cash flows of financial liabilities based on the earliest date on which 
the financial liabilities are required to be paid. the tables include both interest and principal cash flows disclosed as 
remaining contractual maturities and therefore these totals may differ from their carrying amount in the statement  
of financial position.

Consolidated – 2021

Weighted 
average 

interest rate 
%

1 year or less 
$’000

Between 1 
and 2 years 

$’000

Between 2 
and 5 years 

$’000
Over 5 years 

$’000

Remaining 
contractual 

maturities 
$’000

Non-derivatives
Non-interest bearing
trade payables – 14,758 – – – 758
GSt payable – 3,125 – – – 3,125
other payables and 
accruals – 24,822 – – – 24,822
Interest-bearing – 
variable
Bailment finance and 
eMA vehicle funding 2.50% 181,859 – – – 181,859
Interest-bearing – 
fixed rate
lease liability 5.38% 19,228 39,055 53,241 81,892 193,416
total non-derivatives 243,792 39,055 53,241 81,892 417,980

Consolidated – 2020

Weighted 
average 

interest rate 
%

1 year or less 
$’000

Between 1 
and 2 years 

$’000

Between 2 
and 5 years 

$’000
Over 5 years 

$’000

Remaining 
contractual 

maturities 
$’000

Non-derivatives
Non-interest bearing
trade payables – 13,617 – – – 13,617
GSt payable – 5,151 – – – 5,151
other payables and 
accruals – 20,411 – – – 20,411
Interest-bearing – 
variable
Bailment finance and 
eMA vehicle funding 3.08% 204,770 – – – 204,770
Interest-bearing – 
fixed rate
lease liability 5.41% 27,250 56,919 84,871 159,409 328,449
loans from related 
parties 10.00% – 88,222 – – 88,222
total non-derivatives 271,199 145,141 84,871 159,409 660,620

the cash flows in the maturity analysis above are not expected to occur significantly earlier than contractually 
disclosed above.
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Note 26. Fair value measurement

Fair value hierarchy

the following tables detail the Group’s assets and liabilities, measured or disclosed at fair value, using a three level 
hierarchy, based on the lowest level of input that is significant to the entire fair value measurement, being:

level 1: Quoted prices (unadjusted) in active markets for identical assets or liabilities that the entity can access  
at the measurement date.

level 2: Inputs other than quoted prices included within level 1 that are observable for the asset or liability,  
either directly or indirectly.

level 3: unobservable inputs for the asset or liability.

Consolidated – 2021
Level 1 

$’000
Level 2 

$’000
Level 3 

$’000
Total 
$’000

Assets
land and buildings – – 196,731 196,731
total assets – – 196,731 196,731

there were no assets and liabilities carried at fair value during the financial year ended 30 June 2020.

there were no transfers between levels during the financial year.

unless otherwise stated, the carrying amounts of financial instruments reflect their fair value. the carrying amounts  
of trade receivables and trade payables are assumed to approximate their fair values due to their short-term nature. 
the fair value of financial liabilities is estimated by discounting the remaining contractual maturities at the current 
market interest rate that is available for similar financial instruments.

Valuation techniques for fair value measurements categorised within level 3

the basis of the Directors’ valuation of land and buildings is the assessed fair value, being the amounts for which the 
assets could be exchanged between willing parties in an arm’s length transaction at balance date, based on current 
prices in an active market for similar properties in the same location and condition. the land and buildings include  
the Warwick Farm and Southport properties which were acquired on 30 April 2021. An independent valuation was 
undertaken to support the purchase price paid for these properties. the Directors do not believe that there has been  
a material movement in fair value since the acquisition date.

Level 3 assets and liabilities

Movements in level 3 assets and liabilities during the current and previous financial year are set out below:

Consolidated

Land and 
buildings 

$’000

Balance at 1 July 2019 –
Balance at 30 June 2020 –
Additions 208,246
AASB 16 write-down adjustment (note 13) (14,753)
Gains recognised in other comprehensive income 3,519
Depreciation (281)
Balance at 30 June 2021 196,731
total gains for the current year included in other comprehensive income that relate to level 3 assets 
held at the end of the current year 3,519
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the level 3 assets unobservable inputs and sensitivities used in the fair value calculation are as follows:

UNOBSERVABLE INPUTS AND SENSITIVITIES

Valuation technique Summation, income capitalisation and direct comparison
Key input external valuations industry benchmarks
Input Capitalisation rate
Capitalisation rate:
– range
– weighted average

4.3%-6.7%
6.3%

Sensitivity A slight increase in the capitalisation rate used would result in a significant 
decrease in fair value and vice versa

Other key information Rate/m2 of net lettable area
Rate/m2 of net lettable area:
– range
– weighted average

$98/m2-$329/m2
$288/m2

Sensitivity A significant increase in the market rent used would result in a significant 
increase in fair value, and vice versa

Note 27. Key management personnel disclosures

Compensation

the aggregate compensation made to Directors and other members of key management personnel of the Group  
is set out below:

CONSOLIDATED

2021 
$

2020 
$

Short-term employee benefits 5,083,154 1,811,979
post-employment benefits 78,470 75,000
long-term benefits 42,920 21,246
Share-based payments 997,098 –

6,201,642 1,908,225

Note 28. Remuneration of auditors

During the financial year the following fees were paid or payable for services provided by Deloitte touche tohmatsu, 
the auditor of the Company:

CONSOLIDATED

2021 
$

2020 
$

Audit services – Deloitte Touche Tohmatsu
Audit or review of the financial statements 530,750 243,500
Other services – Deloitte Touche Tohmatsu
tax compliance and advisory services 307,250 192,350
tax due diligence relating to Ipo 220,000 –
Investigating accountants report 840,000 –
other services 7,500 24,021

1,374,750 216,371
1,905,500 459,871
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Note 29. Contingent liabilities

CONSOLIDATED

2021 
$’000

2020 
$’000

Bank guarantees 2,422 1,627

All bank guarantees are to cover landlord deposits on leased property.

Note 30. Related party transactions

Parent entity

peter Warren Automotive Holdings limited is the parent entity.

Subsidiaries

Interests in subsidiaries are set out in note 33.

Key management personnel

Disclosures relating to key management personnel are set out in note 27 and the remuneration report included  
in the Directors’ report.

Transactions with related parties

During the financial year the Group entered into the following transactions with related entities:

2021 
$

2020 
$

Revenue received from Director related entities*:
Sale of goods 1,988,397 3,581,409
Rental payments 1,067,654 1,085,135
Shared service charges 6,675,598 6,554,993
Expenses paid/(payable) to Director related entities*:
lease payments 8,948,356 8,898,857
purchase of goods 2,783,128 2,718,972
Interest payments 5,428,568 5,384,853

Receivables/(payables) with related parties

the following balances were outstanding at the end of the year:

2021 
$

2020 
$

Amounts receivable from Director related entities* 1,277,124 538,938
Amounts payable to Director related entities* (63,316) (510,000)
Loans payable to related parties
the following loans were outstanding at the end of the year:
loan notes payable to Director related entities* – 65,829,478

* Director related entities are entities owned by paul Warren.

the loan notes payable to related parties were repaid during the financial year ended 30 June 2021 using funds raised 
from the Ipo.
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Other transactions with related parties

During the year a loan in the amount of $1,250,000 was made to a KMp of the Group (Mr. Mark Weaver). the loan is  
a limited recourse loan and must be repaid out of any proceeds from the sale of loan shares or distributions received  
in respect of the loan shares. the loan is interest free and was secured over an equivalent number C class shares 
acquired by the KMp, which were converted in ordinary shares in the Company on 28 March 2021, at which point the  
loan became secured over an equivalent number of ordinary shares. the loan has been treated as ‘treasury capital’  
and is offset against the associated secured shares (refer to note 22). Refer to note 37 for further information on the 
measurement of this share-based payment.

Terms and conditions

All transactions were made on normal commercial terms and conditions and at market rates.

Note 31. parent entity information

Set out below is the supplementary information about the parent entity.

Statement of profit or loss and other comprehensive income

PARENT

2021 
$’000

2020 
$’000

loss after income tax (3,494) –
total comprehensive income (3,494) –

Statement of financial position

PARENT

2021 
$’000

2020 
$’000

total current assets 438,784 126,154
total assets 490,887 173,154
total current liabilities 14,423 11,435
total liabilities 14,423 11,435
equity

Issued capital 478,448 163,472
Reserves 119 (643)
Accumulated losses (2,103) (1,110)

total equity 476,464 161,719

Guarantees entered into by the parent entity in relation to the debts of its subsidiaries

the parent entity had no guarantees in relation to the debts of its subsidiaries as at 30 June 2021 and 30 June 2020.

Contingent liabilities

the parent entity had no contingent liabilities as at 30 June 2021 and 30 June 2020.

Capital commitments – Property, plant and equipment

the parent entity had no capital commitments for property, plant and equipment as at 30 June 2021 and 30 June 2020.

Significant accounting policies

the accounting policies of the parent entity are consistent with those of the Group, as disclosed in note 2,  
except for the following:
• Investments in subsidiaries are accounted for at cost, less any impairment, in the parent entity.
• Dividends received from subsidiaries are recognised as other income by the parent entity and its receipt may be 

an indicator of an impairment of the investment.
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Notes to the consolidated   
financial statements Continued

Note 32. Business combinations

2021 Acquisitions

the Group acquired the tweed Coast Mazda (1 June 2021) and Collins Honda (16 June 2021) businesses for a total 
consideration of $5,541,000.

these businesses will create opportunities for increased economies of scale when integrated into our other businesses 
which is representative of goodwill of $5,500,000 recognised on acquisition.

the values identified in relation to the acquisitions are provisional as at 30 June 2021.

Details of the acquisitions are as follows:

Fair value 
$’000

Inventories 1,116
other current assets 4
plant and equipment 216
other payables (74)
employee benefits (272)
Borrowings (949)
Net assets acquired 41
Goodwill 5,500
Acquisition-date fair value of the total consideration transferred 5,541
Cash used to acquire business, net of cash acquired:
Acquisition-date fair value of the total consideration transferred 5,541
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Note 33. Interests in subsidiaries

the consolidated financial statements incorporate the assets, liabilities and results of the following subsidiaries 
in accordance with the accounting policy described in note 2:

Ownership interest

Name
Principal place of business/ 
Country of incorporation

2021 
%

2020 
%

pWA Holdings two pty limited Australia 100% 100%
pWA Holdings three pty limited Australia 100% 100%
peter Warren Automotive pty limited Australia 100% 100%
Wp Automotive pty limited Australia 100% 100%
North Shore Automotive pty limited Australia 100% 100%
Sydney North Shore Automotive pty limited Australia 100% 100%
Frizelle Investments pty limited Australia 100% 100%
James Frizelle’s Automotive Group pty limited Australia 100% 100%
Southport Mazda pty limited* Australia 80% 80%
Robina Mazda pty limited* Australia 80% 80%
lismore Mazda pty limited* Australia 80% 80%
Sunshine Group pty limited Australia 100% 100%
pWA properties pty ltd Australia 100% –
platesQ pty ltd Australia 100% –
peter Warren Automotive Investments pty ltd Australia 100% –
peter Warren Automotive Holdings limited 
employee Share trust**

Australia 100% –

* Summarised financial information of the subsidiaries with non-controlling interests has not been included as it is not material  
to the Group.

** on 26 April 2021, the company established an employee share trust, peter Warren Automotive Holdings employee Share  
trust for the sole purpose of subscribing for, acquiring and holdings shares for the benefit of participants under equity  
remuneration schemes.
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Notes to the consolidated   
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Note 34. Deed of cross guarantee

the following entities are party to a deed of cross guarantee under which each company guarantees the debts  
of the others:

peter Warren Automotive Holdings limited
pWA Holdings two pty limited
pWA Holdings three pty limited
peter Warren Automotive pty limited
Wp Automotive pty limited
North Shore Automotive pty limited
Sydney North Shore Automotive pty ltd
Frizelle’s Investments pty ltd
James Frizelle’s Automotive Group ltd
pWA properties pty ltd
peter Warren Automotive Investments pty ltd

By entering into the deed, the wholly-owned entities have been relieved from the requirement to prepare financial 
statements and Directors’ report under Corporations Instrument 2016/785 issued by the Australian Securities and 
Investments Commission.

the above companies represent a ‘Closed Group’ for the purposes of the Corporations Instrument, and as there are  
no other parties to the deed of cross guarantee that are controlled by peter Warren Automotive Holdings limited,  
they also represent the ‘extended Closed Group’.

Set out below is a consolidated statement of profit or loss and other comprehensive income and statement of financial 
position of the ‘Closed Group’.

Statement of profit or loss and other comprehensive income
2021 

$’000
2020 

$’000

Revenue 1,500,499 1,288,412
other income 22,735 24,934
Interest revenue calculated using the effective interest method 62 34
Raw materials and consumables purchased (1,232,594) (1,088,192)
employee benefits expense (124,829) (117,025)
Depreciation and amortisation expense (22,155) (23,103)
other expenses (67,930) (45,526)
Finance costs (21,472) (26,588)
Profit before income tax expense 54,316 12,946
Income tax expense (17,017) (3,360)
Profit after income tax expense 37,299 9,586
Other comprehensive income
Gain on the revaluation of land and buildings, net of tax 2,463 –
other comprehensive income for the year, net of tax 2,463 –
Total comprehensive income for the year 39,762 9,586
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Statement of financial position
2021 

$’000
2020 

$’000

Current assets
Cash and cash equivalents 39,292 68,337
trade and other receivables 57,167 54,630
Inventories 213,555 207,867
other assets 6,726 9,252

316,740 340,086
Non-current assets
other assets 153 354
property, plant and equipment 229,837 25,000
Right-of-use assets 100,782 181,653
Intangibles 145,622 140,121
Deferred tax 20,447 16,366

496,841 363,494
Total assets 813,581 703,580
Current liabilities
trade and other payables 60,615 52,066
Contract liabilities 1,212 390
Borrowings 169,694 194,483
lease liabilities 10,405 13,292
Income tax 14,424 4,525
employee benefits 16,981 11,747

273,331 276,503
Non-current liabilities
Contract liabilities 632 1,788
Borrowings – 88,222
lease liabilities 115,600 202,574
employee benefits 1,462 1,280
provisions 230 300

117,924 294,164
Total liabilities 391,255 570,667
Net assets 422,326 132,913
Equity
Issued capital 478,448 163,471
Reserves (48,082) (51,307)
Retained profits/(accumulated losses) (8,040) 20,749
Total equity 422,326 132,913
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Note 35. Cash flow information

Reconciliation of profit after income tax to net cash from operating activities

CONSOLIDATED

2021 
$’000

2020 
$’000

profit after income tax expense for the year 37,546 8,908
Adjustments for:
Depreciation and amortisation 24,006 24,981
Net loss on disposal of property, plant and equipment 10 149
Share-based payments 762 –
Ipo expenses 4,740 –
Non-cash interest – 8,238
Change in operating assets and liabilities:

Decrease in trade and other receivables and other assets 2,290 10,215
Decrease/(increase) in inventories (30,947) 4,497
Increase in deferred tax assets (1,858) (2,803)
Increase in trade and other payables 7,406 17,624 
Increase/(decrease) in contract liabilities (148) 43
Increase in provision for income tax 9,948 3,339
Increase/(decrease) in other provisions 2,793 (419)

Net cash from operating activities 56,548 74,772 

Non-cash investing and financing activities

CONSOLIDATED

2021 
$’000

2020 
$’000

Additions to the right-of-use assets 1,260 –
Share issued as consideration for land and buildings 96,000 –
extinguishment of lease liabilities 83,247 –

180,507 –

Changes in liabilities arising from financing activities

Consolidated

Loans from 
related parties 

$’000

Lease 
liabilities 

$’000
Total 
$’000

Balance at 1 July 2019 88,438 255,705 344,143
Net cash used in financing activities (8,454) (13,180) (21,634)
Interest accrued 8,238 – 8,238
other changes – 5 5
Balance at 30 June 2020 88,222 242,530 330,752
Net cash used in financing activities (88,222) (13,849) (102,071)
Acquisition of leases – 1,260 1,260
termination of leases – (83,247) (83,247)
Balance at 30 June 2021 – 146,694 146,694
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Note 36. earnings per share

CONSOLIDATED

2021 
$’000

2020 
$’000

profit after income tax attributable to the owners of peter Warren Automotive 
Holdings limited 37,546 8,908

Number Number

Weighted average number of ordinary shares used in calculating basic earnings 
per share 74,869,114 55,024,220
Adjustments for calculation of diluted earnings per share:
performance rights over ordinary shares 44,166 –
Weighted average number of ordinary shares used in calculating diluted earnings 
per share 74,913,280 55,024,220

Cents Cents

Basic earnings per share 50.15 16.19
Diluted earnings per share 50.12 16.19

the weighted average number of ordinary shares for the year ended 30 June 2020 has been restated for the effect  
of the capital reorganisation that took place on 28 March 2021. During the capital reorganisation all class B and class C 
shares were converted into ordinary shares in the Company after which all ordinary shares were consolidated on a ratio 
of 5 to 1. In accordance with AASB 133 ‘Earnings per share’, the weighted average number of ordinary shares for the 
comparative period are calculated based on the number of shares that would have been in existence had the capital 
reorganisation occurred on 1 July 2019.

Before restatement

Number

Weighted average number of ordinary shares used in calculating basic earnings per share 
(before restatement) 115,181,818
Weighted average number of B class shares used in calculating basic earnings per share 113,191,336
Weighted average number of C class shares used in calculating basic earnings per share 6,747,944
Weighted average number of D class shares used in calculating basic earnings per share 1
Adjustment required by AASB 133 ‘earnings per share’ (220,096,879)
After restatement
Weighted average number of ordinary shares used in calculating basic earnings per share 55,024,220
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Note 37. Share-based payments

IPO Grant

on 17 May 2021, Mark Weaver, the Chief executive officer (‘Ceo’) and Bernard Friend, the Chief Financial officer 
(‘CFo’) were granted 99,137 and 90,517 performance rights respectively following the Company’s successful completion 
of the Ipo (‘Ipo Grant’). the vesting conditions of the performance rights will be that the Ceo and CFo remain 
employed by a Group Company until 31 December 2021 and the Board’s subjective assessment of the delivery of 
financial forecasts set out in the prospectus, dated 6 April 2021. If either vesting condition is not satisfied, then the 
participants will forfeit their performance rights in full. the performance rights will issue for nil acquisition price and 
also have a nil exercise price. the accounting fair value of the Ipo Grant is $2.90.

2021 
 
Grant date Exercise price

Balance at 
the start of 

the year Granted Exercised

Expired/ 
forfeited/ 

other

Balance at 
the end of 

the year

06/04/2021 $0.00 – 189,654 – – 189,654
– 189,654 – – 189,654

No performance rights are exercisable at 30 June 2021.

Loan shares

Mark Weaver holds shares that were issued pursuant to a limited recourse loan (loan Shares). the loan attaching  
to the loan Shares is limited recourse and must be repaid out of any proceeds from the sale of the loan Shares or 
distributions received in respect of the loan Shares. Any dealings by Mark Weaver in shares will be deemed loan 
Shares and any proceeds from such sale will be applied to repay the loan. the loan Shares will be subject to peter 
Warren’s Securities trading policy and the escrow arrangements. 

these loan Shares are treated in substance and accounted for as options. Mark Weaver was granted a loan of 
$1,250,000. the exercise price of $5 per share is equal to the non-recourse loan value of $1,250,000. 100% of the  
grant vested in FY21. the accounting fair value of the loan funded shares is $1.95. the loan funded shares were  
valued with an expected life between 5-7 years.

Note 38. events after the reporting period

Impact of COVID-19

the consequences of the Coronavirus (CoVID-19) pandemic continue to be felt around the world and subsequent  
to 30 June 2021, trading has been impacted by lockdowns in New South Wales and, to a lesser extent, Queensland.

However, the impact has been mitigated somewhat by a strong new vehicle order bank at 30 June 2021 which has 
supported the delivery of new vehicles in Q1FY22. 

the extent and duration of these lockdowns is unknown however, it would appear that control measures and related 
government policies, including the roll out of the vaccine, will begin to mitigate the risks caused by CoVID-19.

We have taken proactive steps to adapt to these challenges, including adapting the sales model to click and collect, 
further enhancing our digital capabilities and managing our variable costs in line with trading conditions. Management 
continues to monitor the situation. 

No other matter or circumstance has arisen since 30 June 2021 that has significantly affected, or may significantly 
affect the Group’s operations, the results of those operations, or the Group’s state of affairs in future financial years.

88 | ANNuAl RepoRt 2021



Directors’ declaration
30 June 2021

In the Directors’ opinion:

• the attached financial statements and notes comply with the Corporations Act 2001, the Accounting Standards,  
the Corporations Regulations 2001 and other mandatory professional reporting requirements;

• the attached financial statements and notes comply with International Financial Reporting Standards as issued  
by the International Accounting Standards Board as described in note 2 to the financial statements;

• the attached financial statements and notes give a true and fair view of the Group’s financial position as at  
30 June 2021 and of its performance for the financial year ended on that date;

• there are reasonable grounds to believe that the Company will be able to pay its debts as and when they become 
due and payable; and

• at the date of this declaration, there are reasonable grounds to believe that the members of the extended Closed 
Group will be able to meet any obligations or liabilities to which they are, or may become, subject by virtue of the 
deed of cross guarantee described in note 34 to the financial statements.

the Directors have been given the declarations required by section 295A of the Corporations Act 2001.

Signed in accordance with a resolution of Directors made pursuant to section 295(5)(a) of the Corporations Act 2001.

on behalf of the Directors

John Ingram
Chair

27 August 2021
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  IInnddeeppeennddeenntt  AAuuddiittoorr’’ss  RReeppoorrtt  ttoo  tthhee  MMeemmbbeerrss  ooff    

PPeetteerr  WWaarrrreenn  AAuuttoommoottiivvee  HHoollddiinnggss  LLiimmiitteedd  
 

Opinion  

We have audited the financial report of Peter Warren Automotive Holdings Limited (the “Company”) and its subsidiaries 
(the “Group”) which comprises the consolidated statement of financial position as at 30 June 2021, the consolidated 
statement of profit or loss and other comprehensive income, the consolidated statement of changes in equity and the 
consolidated statement of cash flows for the year then ended, and notes to the financial statements, including a summary 
of significant accounting policies and other explanatory information, and the directors’ declaration. 

In our opinion, the accompanying financial report of the Group is in accordance with the Corporations Act 2001, including: 

(i) giving a true and fair view of the Group’s financial position as at 30 June 2021 and of its financial performance 
for the year then ended; and  

(ii) complying with Australian Accounting Standards and the Corporations Regulations 2001. 

Basis for Opinion 

We conducted our audit in accordance with Australian Auditing Standards. Our responsibilities under those standards are 
further described in the Auditor’s Responsibilities for the Audit of the Financial Report section of our report. We are 
independent of the Group in accordance with the auditor independence requirements of the Corporations Act 2001 and 
the ethical requirements of the Accounting Professional & Ethical Standards Board’s APES 110 Code of Ethics for 
Professional Accountants (including Independence Standards) (the Code) that are relevant to our audit of the financial 
report in Australia. We have also fulfilled our other ethical responsibilities in accordance with the Code. 

We confirm that the independence declaration required by the Corporations Act 2001, which has been given to the 
directors of the Company, would be in the same terms if given to the directors as at the time of this auditor’s report. 

We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion. 

Key Audit Matters  

Key audit matters are those matters that, in our professional judgement, were of most significance in our audit of the 
financial report for the current period. These matters were addressed in the context of our audit of the financial report 
as a whole, and in forming our opinion thereon, and we do not provide a separate opinion on these matters.

Independent auditor’s report
to the members of peter Warren Automotive Holdings limited
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KKeeyy  AAuuddiitt  MMaatttteerr HHooww  tthhee  ssccooppee  ooff  oouurr  aauuddiitt  rreessppoonnddeedd  ttoo  tthhee  KKeeyy  AAuuddiitt  
MMaatttteerr 

RReeccoovveerraabbiilliittyy  ooff  iinnvveennttoorryy  mmeeaassuurreedd  aatt  nneett  
rreeaalliissaabbllee  vvaalluuee  

As disclosed in Notes 2 and 11, management 
have recognised write-downs on the Group’s 
demonstrator and used vehicle inventory to 
determine the net realisable value (“NRV”) at 30 
June 2021.  

The assessment of the write down and required 
provision required to estimate the NRV of 
demonstrator and used vehicle inventory 
requires management to exercise judgement 
based on the age, condition, and brand of the 
vehicle and historic sales outcomes.  

Our procedures included, but were not limited to the 
following: 

• Understanding management’s processes and 
judgements applied in estimating the NRV of 
demonstrator and used vehicles; 

• Evaluating the design and implementation of 
identified relevant manual controls over the 
demonstrator and used vehicle NRV assessment;  

• Obtaining management’s assessment of used and 
demonstrator vehicle inventory valuation including 
reports prepared by management’s expert and 
evaluating the appropriateness of methodology and 
assumptions;  

• Evaluating the competency, objectivity and 
independence of management’s expert;  

• Validating the ageing and cost, on a sample basis, of 
demonstrator and used vehicles at the year-end as 
key inputs used into management’s calculation of 
the write down to NRV;  

• Evaluating management’s judgements in estimating 
used and demonstrator vehicle NRV on a sample 
basis by: 

o comparing the assessed NRV of vehicles to 
their respective post year-end sales;  

o evaluating the carrying value of vehicle 
inventory to external third-party valuation 
data;  

o a comparison to historical sales data; and 

o assessing historical accuracy of inventory 
NRV adjustments to subsequent sales. 

• Assessing the appropriateness of the Group’s 
disclosures in Notes 2 and 11 to the financial 
statements. 

 

Other Information  

The directors are responsible for the other information. The other information comprises the information 
included in the Group’s annual report for the year ended 30 June 2021, but does not include the financial report 
and our auditor’s report thereon.  

Our opinion on the financial report does not cover the other information and we will not express any form of 
assurance conclusion thereon.  

In connection with our audit of the financial report, our responsibility is to read the other information identified 
above when it becomes available and, in doing so, consider whether the  

other information is materially inconsistent with the financial report or our knowledge obtained in the audit, or 
otherwise appears to be materially misstated.  

If, based on the work we have performed, we conclude that there is a material misstatement of this other 
information, we are required to report that fact. We have nothing to report in this regard. 
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Responsibilities of the Directors for the Financial Report 

The directors of the Company are responsible for the preparation of the financial report that gives a true and fair 
view in accordance with Australian Accounting Standards and the Corporations Act 2001 and for such internal 
control as the directors determine is necessary to enable the preparation of the financial report that gives a true 
and fair view and is free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error. 

In preparing the financial report, the directors are responsible for assessing the ability of the Group to continue 
as a going concern, disclosing, as applicable, matters related to going concern and using the going concern basis 
of accounting unless the directors either intend to liquidate the Group or to cease operations, or has no realistic 
alternative but to do so.  

Auditor’s Responsibilities for the Audit of the Financial Report  

Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the financial report as a whole is free from 
material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and to issue an auditor’s report that includes our opinion. 
Reasonable assurance is a high level of assurance, but is not a guarantee that an audit conducted in accordance 
with the Australian Auditing Standards will always detect a material misstatement when it exists. Misstatements 
can arise from fraud or error and are considered material if, individually or in the aggregate, they could reasonably 
be expected to influence the economic decisions of users taken on the basis of this financial report. 

As part of an audit in accordance with the Australian Auditing Standards, we exercise professional judgement and 
maintain professional scepticism throughout the audit. We also: 

• Identify and assess the risks of material misstatement of the financial report, whether due to fraud or error, 
design and perform audit procedures responsive to those risks, and obtain audit evidence that is sufficient 
and appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion. The risk of not detecting a material misstatement resulting 
from fraud is higher than for one resulting from error, as fraud may involve collusion, forgery, intentional 
omissions, misrepresentations, or the override of internal control.  

• Obtain an understanding of internal control relevant to the audit in order to design audit procedures that are 
appropriate in the circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of the 
Group’s internal control.  

• Evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies used and the reasonableness of accounting estimates and 
related disclosures made by the directors.  

• Conclude on the appropriateness of the directors’ use of the going concern basis of accounting and, based on 
the audit evidence obtained, whether a material uncertainty exists related to events or conditions that may 
cast significant doubt on the Group’s ability to continue as a going concern. If we conclude that a material 
uncertainty exists, we are required to draw attention in our auditor’s report to the related disclosures in the 
financial report or, if such disclosures are inadequate, to modify our opinion. Our conclusions are based on 
the audit evidence obtained up to the date of our auditor’s report. However, future events or conditions may 
cause the Group to cease to continue as a going concern.  

• Evaluate the overall presentation, structure and content of the financial report, including the disclosures, and 
whether the financial report represents the underlying transactions and events in a manner that achieves fair 
presentation.  

• Obtain sufficient appropriate audit evidence regarding the financial information of the entities or business 
activities within the Group to express an opinion on the financial report. We are responsible for the direction, 
supervision and performance of the Group’s audit. We remain solely responsible for our audit opinion. 

We communicate with the directors regarding, among other matters, the planned scope and timing of the audit 
and significant audit findings, including any significant deficiencies in internal control that we identify during our 
audit.  

We also provide the directors with a statement that we have complied with relevant ethical requirements 
regarding independence, and to communicate with them all relationships and other matters that may reasonably 
be thought to bear on our independence, and where applicable, actions taken to eliminate threats or safeguards 
applied.  

Independent auditor’s report Continued
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From the matters communicated with the directors, we determine those matters that were of most significance 
in the audit of the financial report of the current period and are therefore the key audit matters. We describe 
these matters in our auditor’s report unless law or regulation precludes public disclosure about the matter or 
when, in extremely rare circumstances, we determine that a matter should not be communicated in our report 
because the adverse consequences of doing so would reasonably be expected to outweigh the public interest 
benefits of such communication. 

RReeppoorrtt  oonn  tthhee  RReemmuunneerraattiioonn  RReeppoorrtt  

Opinion on the Remuneration Report 

We have audited the Remuneration Report included in the Directors’ Report for the year ended 30 June 2021.  

In our opinion, the Remuneration Report of the Group, for the year ended 30 June 2021, complies with section 
300A of the Corporations Act 2001.  

Responsibilities  

The directors of the Company are responsible for the preparation and presentation of the Remuneration Report 
in accordance with section 300A of the Corporations Act 2001. Our responsibility is to express an opinion on the 
Remuneration Report, based on our audit conducted in accordance with Australian Auditing Standards.  

 

 

DELOITTE TOUCHE TOHMATSU 

 

 

Tara Hill    
Partner 
Chartered Accountants 

Sydney, 27 August 2021 
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Shareholder information
30 June 2021

the shareholder information set out below was applicable as at 20 August 2021.

Distribution of equitable securities

Analysis of number of equitable security holders by size of holding:

ORDINARY SHARES
PERFORMANCE RIGHTS OVER 

ORDINARY SHARES

Number  
of holders

% of total 
shares issued

Number  
of holders

% of total 
shares issued

1 to 1,000 344 0.11 – –
1,001 to 5,000 853 1.50 – –
5,001 to 10,000 299 1.33 – –
10,001 to 100,000 162 2.19 2 100.00
100,001 and over 30 94.87 – –

1,688 100.00 2 100.00
Holding less than a marketable parcel – – – –

equity security holders

Twenty largest quoted equity security holders

the names of the twenty largest security holders of quoted equity securities are listed below:

ORDINARY SHARES

Number held
% of total 

shares issued

WF property Holdings pty ltd 33,103,448 19.88
the Warren Family pty ltd 25,323,308 15.20
J p Morgan Nominees Australia pty limited 19,482,970 11.70
Citicorp Nominees pty limited 10,391,814 6.24
uBS Nominees pty ltd 10,355,821 6.22
National Nominees limited 10,297,744 6.18
BNp paribas Nominees pty ltd 9,260,176 5.56
Quadrant private equity No. 5A pty limited 7,826,593 4.70
Wildash (Qld) pty ltd 7,620,221 4.58
Quadrant private equity No. 5B pty limited 4,817,596 2.89
HSBC Custody Nominees (Australia) limited 4,457,385 2.68
Quadrant private equity No. 5C pty limited 3,041,008 1.83
HSBC Custody Nominees (Australia) limited – A/C 2 2,995,676 1.80
Brispot Nominees pty ltd 1,894,233 1.14
CS Fourth Nominees pty limited 1,465,768 0.88
Morgan Stanley Australia Securities (Nominee) pty limited 884,924 0.53
S G p pty ltd 712,972 0.43
DMp & Associates pty limited 712,972 0.43
BNp paribas Noms pty ltd 658,330 0.40
CS third Nominees pty limited 649,193 0.39

155,952,152 93.66

94 | ANNuAl RepoRt 2021



Unquoted equity securities

Number  
on issue

Number  
of holders

performance rights over ordinary shares issued 189,654 2

the following persons hold 20% or more of unquoted equity securities:

Name Class Number held

Mark Weaver performance rights over ordinary shares issued 99,137
Bernard Friend performance rights over ordinary shares issued 90,517

Substantial holders

Substantial holders in the Company are set out below:

ORDINARY SHARES

Number held
% of total 

shares issued

Warren Family 58,426,756 35.08
BlackRock Group 17,241,379 10.35
Quadrant private equity 15,685,197 9.42
perpetual limited 9,533,621 5.72
ellerston Capital limited 8,466,651 5.08

Voting rights

the voting rights attached to ordinary shares are set out below:

Ordinary shares

on a show of hands every member present at a meeting in person or by proxy shall have one vote and upon a poll 
each share shall have one vote.

there are no other classes of equity securities.

Securities subject to voluntary escrow

Class Expiry date
Number  

of shares

ordinary shares the date of the announcement of the Group’s half-year results 
to 31 December 2021 82,072,445
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Corporate Directory
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Directors

John Ingram – Chair 
paul Warren 
Catherine West 
Niran peiris

Company secretary

Bernard Friend

Notice of annual general meeting

the details of the annual general meeting of  
peter Warren Automotive Holdings limited are:

the annual general meeting will be held at  
12:00pm on tuesday, 26 october 2021.

Registered office

13 Hume Highway 
Warwick Farm NSW 2170

ph: +61 2 8777 5858

principal place of business

13 Hume Highway 
Warwick Farm NSW 2170

Share register

link Market Services limited 
level 12 
680 George Street 
Sydney NSW 2000

Auditor

Deloitte touche tohmatsu 
Grosvenor place 
225 George Street 
Sydney NSW 2000

Solicitors

Hunt & Hunt lawyers 
1 Bligh Street 
Sydney NSW 2000

Bankers

Westpac Banking Corporation 
275 Kent Street 
Sydney NSW 2000

Stock exchange listing

peter Warren Automotive Holdings limited shares 
are listed on the Australian Securities exchange 
(ASX code: pWR)

Website

www.pwah.com.au

Business objectives

In accordance with listing Rule 4.10.19 the Company 
confirms that the Group has been utilising the cash and 
assets in a form readily convertible to cash that it held  
at the time of its admission to the official list of ASX 
since its admission to the end of the reporting period  
in a way that is consistent with its business objectives.

Corporate Governance Statement

the Directors and management are committed to high 
standards of corporate governance. peter Warren’s 
Corporate Governance Statement sets out our 
commitment to best practice corporate governance  
in compliance with the ASX Corporate Governance 
principles and Recommendations (Fourth edition) 
(“Recommendations”), to the extent appropriate for  
the size and nature of peter Warren’s operations. 

the Corporate Governance Statement is current as  
at 27 August 2021 and has been approved by the Board  
of Directors. the Corporate Governance Statement  
can be found at https://www.pwah.com.au.
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